

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Acculturation and Emotional Eating Among Arabic Middle Eastern Women in the United States

Sherri Alizz Roohi-Booroujeni Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons, and the Psychology Commons

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Sherri Alizz Roohi-Booroujeni

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Patti Barrows, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Matthew Howren, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Scott Gfeller, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Acculturation and Emotional Eating

Among Arabic Middle Eastern Women in the United States

by

Sherri Alizz Roohi-Booroujeni

MA, Walden University, 2017

BS, Oakland University, 2015

Submitted as partial fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy in
Health Psychology

Walden University

May, 2022

Abstract

Obesity is a substantial problem that occurs worldwide and is highly associated with increased risks of chronic diseases such as Type II diabetes mellitus, cardiac-related diseases, hypertension, and some cancers. Middle Eastern cultures have one of the highest rates of overweight and obesity, estimated to be the second highest worldwide. The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship among stress, depression, emotional eating, and weight gain in Middle Eastern women, specifically Arabs, who have moved to the United States, using a quantitative approach. The theoretical foundation was psychosomatic theory, which explains the connection between psychological problems and emotional eating. This theory suggests that mental conditions increase the chances of overeating among people who find food rewarding. An online survey was used to collect data from a convenience sample of approximately 150 participants using demographics, Cohen's Perceived Stress questionnaire, the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale, the Vancouver Index of Acculturation questionnaire, and the 25-item Emotional Eating Scale. Arabic Middle Eastern women were focused on in this study to understand whether mental changes such as stress, depression, and acculturation may increase overeating because of moving to the United States. The findings, although they did not reach significance, may promote positive social change by showing the need for more medical practitioners who understand how better to treat Arabic Middle Eastern women who suffer from obesity as well as help these women to identify factors that may contribute to their overeating and subsequent weight gain.

Acculturation and Emotional Eating Among Arabic Middle Eastern Women in the United States

by

Sherri Alizz Roohi-Booroujeni

MA, Walden University, 2017

BS, Oakland University, 2015

Submitted as partial fulfillment of the Requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy in Health Psychology

Walden University

May, 2022

Dedication

I wholeheartedly dedicate this dissertation to my beloved parents, Suzanne and Farouk, who have been my source of strength and inspiration, who continually provide their emotional, spiritual, and financial support.

My husband, Sina, whose affection, love, and continuous encouragement made it possible for me to complete this work. He has always been there for me and shared his support, either morally, financially, and physically. He had cheered me on when I felt discouraged and believed in me when I thought of giving up. I will forever be thankful for you.

My sisters, Raghda, Hannah, and Ghada, and my brother, Manaf, who shared their words of advice and encouragement to complete this study. They always motivated me and uplifted me when needed; they are indeed a gift from God.

I also want to express my deep appreciation for Emilio, my golden boy, my dog. Thank you for accepting me, lying next to me while writing my book, all the kisses and hugs, the adventures we do together, and more. But, most importantly, thank you for letting me be part of your life.

And lastly, I dedicate this book to God. Thank you for everything. Thank you for your guidance, protection, blessings, and for giving me strength and good health.

Acknowledgments

I want to acknowledge everyone who played a role in my academic accomplishments, including my committee members, Dr. Patti Barrows and Dr. Mathew Howren, each of whom has provided me with advice, encouragement, and guidance through this research journey. Thank you for your endless support, kindness, and understanding.

Table of Contents

| Lis | ist of Tables | | |
|--------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|----|--|
| Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study | | | |
| | Background | 4 | |
| | Stress Eating. | 4 | |
| | Acculturation | 4 | |
| | Problem Statement | 6 | |
| | Purpose of the Study | 8 | |
| | Research Questions and Hypotheses | 9 | |
| | Theoretical Framework | 10 | |
| | Nature of the Study | 11 | |
| | Participant Selection | 11 | |
| | Definitions of Terms | 12 | |
| | Assumptions | 13 | |
| | Scope and Delimitations | 13 | |
| | Limitations | 14 | |
| | Significance | 15 | |
| | Summary and Transition | 15 | |
| Chapter 2: Literature Review | | 17 | |
| | Literature Search Organization | 19 | |
| | Theoretical Foundations | 20 | |

| Psychosomatic Theory | 20 |
|--|----|
| Lifestyle Choices | 21 |
| Lifestyles of Middle Eastern Women and Obesity | 24 |
| Emotional Eating | 27 |
| Risks of Emotional Eating | 33 |
| Emotional Eating Among Middle Eastern Women | 35 |
| Acculturation and Emotional Eating | 37 |
| Stress | 42 |
| Depression | 46 |
| Associations Among Psychological Illness, Acculturation, and Emotional | |
| Eating | 51 |
| Summary | 53 |
| Chapter 3: Research Method. | 54 |
| Research Design and Rationale | 54 |
| Methodology | 55 |
| Population | 55 |
| Procedures | 56 |
| Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs | 57 |
| Demographics | 58 |
| Instrumentation | 58 |
| Cohen's Perceived Stress Questionnaire | 58 |
| Hamilton Depression Rating Scale | 59 |

| | Acculturation Questionnaire | 61 |
|----|---|----|
| | Emotional Eating Scale | 63 |
| | Data Analysis | 64 |
| | Research Questions and Hypotheses | 64 |
| | Threats to Validity | 66 |
| | Ethical Issues | 67 |
| | Summary | 68 |
| Ch | apter 4: Results | 70 |
| | Data Collection and Management | 70 |
| | Research Questions and Hypotheses | 72 |
| | RQ1 | 73 |
| | RQ2 | 73 |
| | RQ3 | 74 |
| | Research Findings | 74 |
| | Participants | 74 |
| | RQ1: Stress and Emotional Eating | 78 |
| | RQ2: Depression and Emotional Eating | 79 |
| | RQ3: Acculturation and Emotional Eating | 80 |
| | Summary | 82 |
| Ch | apter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations | 85 |
| | Introduction | 85 |
| | Interpretation of Findings | 85 |

| RQ1: Stress and Emotional Eating | 86 |
|--|-----|
| RQ2: Depression and Emotional Eating | 88 |
| RQ3: Acculturation and Emotional Eating | 91 |
| Post Hoc Analyses | 93 |
| Limitations of the Study | 94 |
| Recommendations | 95 |
| Implications | 97 |
| Conclusions | 98 |
| References | 100 |
| Appendix A | 123 |
| Appendix B: Demographic Survey | 124 |
| Appendix C: Perceived Stress Questionnaire | 126 |
| Appendix D: Hamilton Depression Rating Scale | 131 |
| Appendix E: Acculturation Questionnaire | 137 |
| Appendix F: Emotional Fating Scale | 143 |

List of Tables

| Table 1 | Sociodemographic Characteristics of Participants | 76 |
|---------|--|----|
| Table 2 | Coefficients of the Three Predictor Variables and the Outcome Variable | 77 |
| Table 3 | Coefficients of Two Predictor Variables and the Outcome Variable | 78 |
| Table 4 | Coefficients of Two Predictor Variables and the Outcome Variable | 79 |
| Table 5 | Coefficients of Two Predictor Variables and the Outcome Variable | 81 |

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Obesity is a significant public health problem, which may be in part the result of a person's inability to metabolize food properly or a person's genetic makeup, though the condition is more often the result of a calorie-rich diet and a sedentary lifestyle (Duarte et al., 2015; Song et al., 2018). Unhealthy eating practices may not only cause overweight and obesity but may also lead to other chronic comorbidities such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus Type II, and heart-related diseases (Emerson et al., 2016; Song et al., 2018). Other diseases related to obesity include stroke, some cancers, gallbladder disease and gallstones, osteoarthritis, gout, and breathing problems such as sleep apnea (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2019). Obesity contributes directly to an estimated four million deaths each year (Weiderpass et al., 2019), and the rate of Type II diabetes mellitus has quadrupled from the year 1980 to 2014, with an increase from 5% to 8% among women (Chivese et al., 2016).

Women are considered to be more susceptible to becoming overweight or obese than men because of many factors including eating in response to negative emotions (Costanzo & Musante, 1996) as well as physical characteristics that may lead to accumulation of fat (Duarte et al., 2015). According to Garawi et al. (2014), the prevalence of obesity among women is higher than for men globally; however, the rates can vary depending on the country. For example, in the United States, women are only 4% higher in the overall prevalence than men, whereas in Kuwait, they are 26% higher and 29% higher in South Africa. Women are also more likely to gain weight that later becomes associated with a high risk of developing chronic illnesses—both physical and

emotional—that disrupt quality of life (Emerson et al., 2016). Women in the Middle East in particular, are more susceptible to obesity and developing diseases such as diabetes mellitus Type II and heart diseases (Alnohair, 2014). There is a high percentage of obesity among Middle Eastern women, as 48% of those living in Kuwait, 42% from Dubai, and 32% from Qatar were diagnosed with obesity at rates that were among the highest in women in the Arab world (Alnohair, 2014). Therefore, lack of physical activities, cultural values, and food consumption patterns may factor in making Middle Eastern women more likely to become overweight and obese than men (Kanter & Caballero, 2012).

There are many reasons for the high obesity in Middle Eastern women. In Arab countries and cultures, consuming food that is high in fat and carbohydrates is a well-established, traditional practice (Al-Disi et al., 2015). Being overweight in some locales or countries may also be considered a sign of affluence, a factor that might lead to either deliberate weight gain (Donnelly et al., 2018). Another element that contributes to obesity among Arab women is likely to be their heavy clothing, as its size and weight discourages physical activities because it inhibits free movement (Donnelly et al., 2018). Nonetheless, many Arab women will comply with specific clothing requirements for social or religious reasons that outweigh both their comfort, mobility, appearance and the negative consequences of their being overweight (Sharara et al., 2018).

Additionally, many women from the Middle East tend to stress eat rather than eating because they are hungry and typically continue to overeat after emigrating to other countries (Klatzkin et al., 2018). Because these women are likely to overeat in response

to negative emotions (Costanzo & Musante, 1996), they are perhaps more likely to develop mental health issues and physical diseases associated with overeating (Duarte et al., 2015). However, cultures in the Middle East may discourage members of their groups from seeking professional help for psychological or physical changes that may lead to obesity, especially because of attitudes toward the roles of women and personal topics being discussed outside the group (Dardas & Simmons, 2015). Additionally, because some Middle Eastern women believe that symptoms of mental illness relate to supernatural forces (e.g., Jinn), they keep most of their negative emotions inside and instead find comfort in overeating (Dardas & Simmons, 2015). However, although several studies have confirmed the relationships among stress, depression, and emotional eating, it is not clearly understood how those psychological factors contribute to overeating and obesity among Middle Eastern women who now live in the United States.

The immigration of the Arab population to the United States has increased dramatically over the past 35 years, with the total number tripling from 610,000 to 1.8 million in 2015 (Read et al., 2018). Along with the increase in population is the need to find health care resources specific to the health needs and cultural requirements of this ethnic group (Read et al., 2018). Adult women ages 18 to 36 gain more weight than any other age group (Sand et al., 2015), and Middle Eastern women have a high risk of developing obesity at a younger age compared to men due to unhealthy food choices (Farrag et al., 2017). Unhealthy habits individuals have may also be exacerbated if they immigrate to a foreign country, where they lack the social and emotional support of their

friends and family. However, they seldom seek professional help for their problems due to a cultural stigma regarding emotional weakness (Dardas & Simmons, 2015).

Background

Stress Eating

Stress eating has been shown to negatively affect many women who find that eating is emotionally rewarding (Klatzkin et al., 2018). For example, Middle Eastern women, whose food preferences include high carbohydrates and fat-laden food, are at higher risk of developing chronic diseases including diabetes mellitus Type II and heart-related problems and diseases (Al-Disi et al., 2015). One of the reasons for stress eating may be acculturation, as the demands of acculturation have increased stress and depression symptoms among Hispanic women who left their countries and relocated to the United States for any reason (De Oliveira et al., 2017). Acculturation not only affects a person's physical and mental health but can also affect their self-esteem (Wilson & Tyler, 2018). Those who experience low self-esteem may also suffer from stress and anxiety and may tend to overeat as a way to enjoy subsequent comfort and satisfaction.

Acculturation

Acculturation can be difficult for anyone who moves to another country and lifestyle, but it is especially difficult for Middle Eastern women because of changes in dietary practices and habits and even the lack of availability of the food they were accustomed to back in their home country. Difficulties with acculturation can also be a significant factor in increasing psychological disturbances in those who move to another country (Al Wekhian, 2015). Doumit et al. (2016), for example, showed that Lebanese

women may begin to suffer from anxiety and insomnia, especially if they were relocated because of political conflicts that led to civil war in their home countries. These emotional changes may lead them to seek comfort from food, which may lead to weight gain. Similarly, Doumit et al. (2016) noted that women who developed posttraumatic stress disorder from war may increase their food consumption, particularly if they were deprived of food during wartime and food is now available.

There is also an association between psychological illnesses and acculturation (Adams & Boscarino, 2013). Research has indicated a relationship between low acculturation and poor health among many minority groups living in the United States. Thus, individuals who are less acculturated are more likely to experience a lack of social support, adverse life events, and more likely to develop poor mental status that can lead to poor physical health. On a similar note, Koneru et al. (2007) reported that anxiety, self-esteem, stress, and depression were associated with low acculturation. In a study that included 26 different cultural backgrounds indicated high levels of mental changes (eg., dissatisfaction, low self-esteem, and depression) associated with adjustment to a new country.

Many women in the Middle East undergo stress and depression due to culture, traditions, or trauma that can lead to overweight and obesity. However, because little is known about specific relationships among stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating in this population, they lack specific information that might enable them to change their unhealthy eating habits and seek other outlets for stress relief. Therefore, this study was necessary to learn other significant factors that may contribute to the

increase in overeating and obesity among Middle Eastern women who live in the United States, including learning the relationships among stress, depression, and acculturation that may contribute to emotional eating in this population.

The findings of this study may promote social change by showcasing the need for more medical practitioners that can treat overweight and obese Middle Eastern women, specifically Arabs. Medical professionals can learn to identify other factors that may contribute to this population's overeating and subsequent weight gain. Medical practitioners may use the results of this study to refer women of this population to therapists by illustrating the need for more services to help them with their emotional problems. The knowledge gained from this study may also be used to guide the creation of programs accepted by the culture that can help them overcome depression, reduce stress, and manage their weight. An additional potential benefit may be that women in this culture may realize that they are depending on food for comfort and that they are risking developing diseases such as diabetes mellitus Type II. As a result, they may take steps to curb the practice of comfort eating.

Problem Statement

Emotional problems and other psychological factors may contribute to unhealthy eating practices among women who seek comfort in eating. Because women are more likely to indulge in emotional eating than men, they have higher rates of overweight and obesity (Mosher et al., 2018). Studies on acculturation and mental illness have shown that women who moved to the United States are more likely to become stressed and depressed and therefore find comfort in overeating (Cordero & Gutierrez, 2016). In this study, I

aimed to find whether acculturation and psychological illnesses are a factor in increasing overweight and obesity among Arab women who are born in the Middle East and currently live in the United States. Besides the mental changes associated with overeating, unhealthy eating habits are also closely related to serious and chronic comorbidities, including the following: hypertension, dyslipidemia, Type II diabetes mellitus, coronary artery disease, stroke, osteoarthritis, sleeping and breathing problems, some cancers, body aches, and difficulty with physical functioning (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019).

Middle Eastern women tend to develop higher rates of diabetes mellitus Type II than other ethnicities (Al-Raifai & Aziz, 2018). This condition is increasing in the United States because of the increase in the immigration rate of the Middle Eastern population. As a result, it is anticipated that more healthcare resources will be required for this specific population in the United States (Read et al., 2018).

A significant body of evidence confirmed that psychological factors—including stress and depression—are related to increased eating and developing overweight and obesity in many people (Simon et al., 2006). However, little is known about the specific relationships among stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating among Arab women in the Middle East who have emigrated to the United States. However, researchers have suggested that Middle Eastern women are more likely to gain weight when they move to another country and that weight gain may be the result of many factors, including ethnicity, gender, life experiences, lifestyle, and availability of a

person's usual diet (Sand et al., 2015). Therefore, it is necessary to learn the relationships between psychological factors and acculturation for this population.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative, nonexperimental, correlational study was to examine the predictive relationship between stress, depression, and acculturation (independent/predictor variables) and emotional eating (dependent/outcome variable) among Arabic Middle Eastern women who moved to the United States. Researchers have suggested that women are more likely to develop mental and physical illnesses because of overweight and obesity than men (Duarte et al., 2015), so in this study, I aimed to present the specific relationships among stress, depression, and acculturation that have contributed to overweight and obesity among Arab women who live in the United States. As compulsive overeating among this population increases, it is causing other significant health problems including cardiac disease and diabetes mellitus Type II (Song et al., 2018). Although there have been studies of the relationships among stress, depression, emotional eating, and weight gain, little is known about how these psychological factors affect Arab women, especially those raised in the Middle East who immigrated to the United States. To fill this gap in the literature, I used a quantitative methodology to examine various factors that may be contributing to the increase in overweight and obesity in this population with the intent to inform knowledge among the healthcare professionals to help those suffering from weight gain.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research Question 1 (RQ1): What is the relationship between stress and emotional eating, after controlling for depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States?

Null Hypothesis (H_01): There is no relationship between stress and emotional eating, after controlling for depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Alternative Hypothesis (H_a1): There is a relationship between stress and emotional eating, after controlling for depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Research Question 2 (RQ2): What is the relationship between depression and emotional eating, after controlling for stress, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States?

Null Hypothesis (H_02): There is no relationship between depression and emotional eating, after controlling for stress, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Alternative Hypothesis (H_a2): There is a relationship between depression and emotional eating, after controlling for stress, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Research Question 3 (RQ3): What is the relationship between acculturation and emotional eating, after controlling for stress and depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States?

Null Hypothesis (H_03): There is no relationship between acculturation and emotional eating, after controlling for stress and depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Alternative Hypothesis (*Ha3*): There is a relationship between acculturation and emotional eating, after controlling for stress and depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Theoretical Framework

The psychosomatic theory of emotional eating (Van Strien et al., 1995), which was derived from an earlier Van Strien study in 1986, explained the relationships among emotional eating and psychological factors. In the earlier study, Van Strien articulated the difference between eating to satisfy hunger and nutritional needs and eating for emotional needs caused by anxiety, stress, and depression. Van Strien et al. (1995) developed this theory to explain how overeating can be subsequent to experiencing negative emotions and theorized that negative emotions, including stress and fear, can contribute to increasing overweight and obesity. For some people, eating can become a habitual response to adverse events or psychological changes they may be experiencing. They start to overeat because they have found that it leads to a feeling of contentment. This feeling of satisfaction or comfort offset their feelings of distress and unhappiness; therefore, overeating continues and becomes rewarding. The Van Strien (1986) theory was an appropriate framework for this study because it posits that there is a relationship between stress, depression, other psychological factors, and emotional eating, which will be the focus of the study. The psychosomatic theory of Van Strien and subsequent

research have also provided insights into measuring how depression and stress may be associated with or a cause of emotional eating among Middle Eastern women from any Arab country who now live in the United States.

Nature of the Study

In this study, I explored the relationships among various variables using quantitative methodology. The independent variables of this study included stress, depression, and acculturation, with the single dependent variable of emotional eating. To measure stress, I used Cohen's Perceived Stress Scale (PSS; Cohen et al., 1983). To measure depression, I used the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAM-D; Hamilton, 1960) to determine the severity of depression among participants, the Vancouver Index of Acculturation (VIA, Modified Arab Version) to measure acculturation (Amer, 2005), and the 25-item Emotional Eating Scale (EES) to measure emotional eating (Wilson et al., 2015).

Participant Selection

When necessary, I had a plan of using two different methods to recruit adult Middle Eastern women, specifically Arabs, who immigrated from their home countries and currently live in the United States. One method was to collect data using social media, Facebook, and the other one was the Walden Participant Pool, a group comprised of those who have volunteered to provide answers to queries posed by researchers and who are committed to answering honestly so data will be considered reliable. I had also prepared to create a survey for a women's group comprised of Arab women who have emigrated to the United States who attend a regular event every week where I live if more

participants are needed. However, the only method that I used for this study was Facebook to collect the appropriate amount of data.

Definitions of Terms

Acculturation: Acculturation is the process of immigrants adapting to a new lifestyle and culture once they move to another country. This process can affect the individual's mental and social well-being (Erten et al., 2018).

Depression: Is a serious and common medical illness associated with negative impacts on how the individual feels, thinks, and acts. Chronic depression is known to be related to chronic medical conditions, including heart attacks, high blood pressure, and diabetes (Fried & Nesse, 2014).

Emotional Eating: The practice of overeating in response to psychological changes, social pressures, and negative emotions (Frayn et al., 2018). This practice can occur among those who are obese and overweight as well as those who are normal weight (Frayn et al., 2018).

Middle Eastern Women: Those who grow up with specific cultural and religious beliefs and traditions that they are required to follow since many countries of the Middle East believe that women can only contribute to society by raising their children and taking care of their families (Romanowski & Al-Hassan, 2013).

Psychological Condition: Any of a number of influences that are characterized by a wide range of emotional changes that can influence a person's mood and behaviors.

The causes of many mental illnesses are either unknown or unclear. The mental

dysfunction can be a pattern or single or multiple episodes that can be permanent or temporary, depending on the condition (Malala et al., 2015).

Stress: Is a tension-like feeling that is produced in response to negative events. These events may allow the person to feel anxious, frustrated, or nervous, and therefore, a body reaction occurs that can adversely affect the person's overall well-being (Butler, 1993; Schneiderman et al., 2005).

Assumptions

I assumed that all study participants understood of the purpose of the study and its target population. Kaiser (2009) reported that research studies that focus on anonymity and confidentiality are more likely to have their participants become comfortable with their answers. Therefore, I assumed that participants were unbiased and honest with their answers so that data derived from their responses were accurate and therefore led to results that included information that I used to fill the research gap. Similarly, I assumed that the questionnaire that was published through social media had reached an adequate number of potential participants and that their answers were honest. I used the information that I collected through these means to answer the research question about the factors that may contribute to increasing overweight and obesity among Arabic Middle Eastern women who live in the United States.

Scope and Delimitations

Since this research topic required learning whether there was a relationship between stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating among Middle Eastern women who have moved to and are now living in the United States, the research sample included only those so identified. Therefore, I did not consider Middle Eastern women born or raised from an early age in the United States, because acculturation was one of the study variables. I collected data through a questionnaire that was published on Facebook as well as through the Walden participant pool to add to the validity and number of responses. If additional participants had been needed, I considered a handout survey to be given to a group of Middle Eastern women, particularly Arabs, who have emigrated to the United States who gather every week for socialization events that they have created near where I currently live.

Limitations

Challenges to the veracity of the study may have been that some participants were not honest in their responses to the questions for any reason (Oltmann, 2016). Lack of firm historical data or documentation related to the research gap might be another limitation, while another may be threats to validity from external factors that could heavily influence the study in a negative or a positive way and skew the results (Flannelly et al., 2018). Another limitation may have been using social media to recruit participants, as the process is not entirely reliable, and using information from that source has the potential to return inaccurate information. Recruiting most participants from an online source might also limit the generalizability of the study results (Koo & Skinner, 2005). I was seeking Arab female participants who had moved to the United States from a Middle Eastern country, and if respondents included those who did not reflect the criteria, the results may not have been entirely accurate. Therefore, women who did not meet the

inclusion criteria mentioned in the beginning of the survey were not able to participate in the study.

Significance

Al-Raifai and Aziz (2018) noted that Middle Eastern women have higher rates of obesity than Middle Eastern men have and are more likely to develop diabetes mellitus. Type II than those born in the United States. To compound the difficulty, many who are from Arab countries are reluctant to seek professional help if they believe the cause may be from an illness with a psychological cause because of the stigma of seeking help for a condition that may be perceived as a personal weakness. Middle Eastern people with mental illnesses may also experience negative health-related outcomes if they also overeat or manifest obesity (Dardas & Simmons, 2015). This study's results can provide further insight into factors that may contribute to increasing overweight and obesity, including acculturation among Middle Eastern women, specifically Arabs. Understanding that psychological changes among Middle Eastern women due to low acculturation can lead to obesity can provide researchers and medical professionals with the opportunity to determine effective means to help women overcome depression, reduce stress, and manage their weight.

Summary and Transition

In Chapter 1, I presented the background of the study, the problem statement, the purpose of the research and its significance, definitions of essential terms as they are used in the study, and the conceptual framework of the proposed research. I also included the research questions and hypotheses as well as the assumptions, delimitations, and

limitations. Chapter 2 included a detailed discussion of the literature about related areas of the problem. I also presented an analysis of what I have found through research on the relationships among stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating in Arab women from the Middle East living in the United States.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Being overweight or obese is the fifth leading risk of death worldwide. Many scholars believe that many developing countries underwent a shift from their traditional diets and overall lifestyle to the Western diet (i.e., fat-containing refined foods), decreased physical activities, and increased transportation opportunities (Gouda & Prusty, 2014). Goldschmidt (2017) believed that even though the body monitors food consumption, and it signals when its need for food is satisfied, some people may continue to eat even after they feel physically satiated. This is most likely due to the availability of food and individuals enjoying the taste of the food and the process of eating, or some might undergo a loss of control. If the individual consumes more food than their body can thoroughly metabolize, it will usually cause the individual to gain weight.

The causes for excessive eating that leads to significant weight gain are not fully understood, and some examples of dangerous obesity seem to occur in particular populations under specific conditions, such as overeating in response to negative emotions. The Middle Eastern population, for example, developed an increase in obesity, especially in the last 2 decades, with women experiencing obesity in greater numbers than men (ALNohair, 2014). Middle Eastern culture, religion, and traditions may be one reason for overweight and obesity, a condition that may lead to higher risks of developing chronic diseases such as Type II diabetes mellitus (Emerson et al., 2016; Sharara et al., 2018).

Middle Eastern families, including refugees, leave their home countries for many reasons including war, danger, and hardships, may undergo difficulties adjusting to the

new, unfamiliar environment. Despite the fact that these Middle Eastern families may feel safe in the new environment, they may face other kinds of complications that are unique to their population. These complications may include language barriers, racism, culture shock, unemployment, social isolation, and many more (Semaan, 2016). The literature shows that Middle Eastern parents, women more than men, are less acculturated when moving to the United States than children. They are more likely to undergo high levels of distress and depression; however, they refrain from seeking mental health services due to the issue of the stigma of seeking psychological help among this particular population (Dardas & Simmons, 2015; Semaan, 2016).

It is known that moving to a new country is highly associated with increased mental changes such as anxiety and stress, particularly among women (Alidu & Grunfeld, 2018). The immigration of the Arab population to the United States, as reported by Read et al. (2018), has tripled from 610,000 to 1.8 million in the past 35 years. This increase in population results in the need to find health care resources. Although many Middle Eastern women may seek medical help if they suffer from medical conditions, they are unlikely to seek psychological advice if they suffer from depression (Dardas & Simmons, 2015). Thus, Middle Eastern women are more likely to suffer from chronic diseases caused by overeating (ALNohair, 2014).

The purpose of this study was to examine the Middle Eastern population, particularly women, to understand whether mental changes such as stress and depression, as well as acculturation, may allow overeating to accelerate when they move to a new

country. In this study, I focused on obese Middle Eastern women who have emigrated to the United States.

Obesity may be a result of a calorie-rich diet, consistently and repeatedly overeating, a sedentary lifestyle, a glandular condition that prevents the body from metabolizing food properly, or from other medical or emotional conditions that may or may not be fully understood (Hruby & Hu, 2015). In most cases, however, obesity is a preventable condition that can be avoided if people control their eating habits and avoid overeating. However, there are cases of overweight and obesity related to other factors that may cause a person to depend on overeating to feel better. One of those can be the result of moving to a new country where the customs and people are different from those one is accustomed to. Alidu and Grunfeld (2018) found that women who immigrate to another country may experience health-related problems such as obesity and overweight. Because of the potentially unhealthy result of that overeating practice. I examined the reasons for continued and or increased overeating among a representative Middle Eastern population now living in the United States. Overeating may be associated with stress, depression, and difficulties with acculturation that have led to an emotional dependency on food and eating.

Literature Search Organization

I began the literature search for this study by accessing the Thoreau database available through the Walden University Library. I found articles in Google Scholar, SAGE journals, PubMed, PsychInfo, and other scholarly sources published from 1986 through 2019 by using the following key words: *stress and obesity, depression and*

obesity, obesity among women, emotional eating among Arabic Middle Eastern women, emotional eating and psychological factors, stress among women, depression among women, acculturation and obesity, acculturation and stress, acculturation and weight change, acculturation and women, depression and acculturation, obesity in Middle-Eastern women, and obesity and mental health. I also searched for and read other available sources from earlier publications for their historic relevance

The available literature about emotional eating suggested variables and assessment tools and scales that might be used as measures. Finding no specific studies that measured the relationships among stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating among Arabic Middle Eastern women who have moved to the United States, I examined the existing literature that addressed the relationships among the variables and found that those variables were often interconnected.

Theoretical Foundations

Psychosomatic Theory

Van Strien's (1986) psychosomatic theory is one explanation for the connection between psychological problems and emotional eating, as it suggests that psychological conditions propel overeating among many people because it satisfies a craving or need for fulfillment they perceive is lacking in their lives. Thus, in some people, eating can become a habitual response to the stress, anxiety, or depression they may be experiencing. They enjoy the process, and they have found that eating leads to a feeling of contentment—if only temporarily. This contentment or satisfaction often causes people to continue to indulge in this activity even after the stressors are mitigated. They

have learned that the process of eating is positive and rewarding because it offsets their feelings of unhappiness, frustration, or distress—at least for a short time. Thus, some become habituated to this response.

The psychosomatic theory is one explanation of the dualism between the human body and the mind, as it explains how a person's mind can both negatively and positively affect their body. Psychosomatic theory, a theory that has been the focus of much of the research in the United States, posits that psychosomatic thinking may be created because of social life, environment, genetics, or many other factors (Kirmayer & Gómez-Carrillo, 2019). Van Strien's (1986) psychosomatic theory includes the factor that mental changes such as stress, anxiety, or depression can be correlated with overeating among many individuals. The psychosomatic theory asserts that excessive eating because of negative emotions can be a result of psychological illnesses, as well as life experiences, including traumas (Van Strien, 1986).

The psychosomatic theory also suggests that mental changes, such as stress and depression, have a relationship with emotional eating (Mosher et al., 2018). Although it is known that psychological diseases and overeating are often linked, the way those particular psychological factors affect Middle Eastern women who have moved to the United States is not clearly known. I used the psychosomatic theory as a framework for this study.

Lifestyle Choices

A positive lifestyle is typically described as a person's choosing to maintain and reflect good health by following behaviors such as a low-carbohydrate and low-fat diet,

increasing physical activities and social interactions, and pursuing other activities that mitigate the effects of stress (Wang & Geng, 2019). The authors, including Wang and Geng (2019), also determined that high mortality rates are often caused by poor health-related risk behaviors such as tobacco, drug, or alcohol use and other unhealthy choices such as overeating and a sedentary lifestyle. Wang and Geng (2019) also concluded in their study that individuals are likely to undergo risky behaviors if they are under pressure that has resulted from stress, depression, or anxiety. Poor mental health will often lead people to find ways to make themselves feel better, and eating may provide the comfort some are seeking. Wang and Geng (2019) asserted that many kinds of events can lead to psychological disturbances that take place over the course of a lifetime. Although many people are able to manage these disturbances in an acceptable way that does not bring undesirable consequences, others unwittingly choose an outlet for their unhappiness that leads to another undesirable result, one of which is overeating to the point of obesity.

Mental well-being, as defined by Mintzer et al. (2019), is the internal stability and positive feelings that enable people to function well and cope with issues that they encounter. The authors asserted that poor health decisions such as drug and alcohol use are also associated with chronic diseases and a high mortality rate, noting that physical activities are associated with increased energy and produce a positive effect on an individual's overall health. Exercise is correlated with a healthier brain and improved ability to learn. Lack of physical activity is also associated with negative mental conditions such as depression, anxiety, or stress. Belvederi Murri et al. (2019) reported that one important intervention technique to decrease depression symptoms is increasing

physical activities. Exercising and staying active does not only shape the body, but are also beneficial to internal organs, including the brain, and are associated with increased energy and decreased stress (Belvederi Murri et al., 2019). Those who have a sedentary lifestyle may place themselves at risk of developing chronic diseases such as Type II diabetes mellitus or cardiovascular disease; they also have higher rates of depression and an increased mortality rate (Belvederi Murri et al., 2019; Emerson et al., 2016).

Molema et al. (2019) determined that physical inactivity is also associated with premature mortality. Those with minimal physical activities are more likely to become overweight and obese, a condition which can often lead to various types of chronic diseases. Medical providers of all specialties encourage physical activity because it leads to healthier life-changing behavior. Being active is also associated with improved eating behaviors. Those who participate in daily physical activities benefit from having a healthier lifestyle, increased energy, and less risk of developing diseases.

According to the American Heart Association, heart disease is the most common cause of death around the world (Garcia et al., 2018). Besides other factors such as smoking tobacco and a sedentary lifestyle that contribute to increasing the risk of cardiovascular disease, obesity is a particularly significant contributor to heart disease. Besides heart disease and the risk of hypertension associated with overweight and obesity, Type II diabetes mellitus may result from overeating (Garcia et al., 2018; Vallance et al., 2018). Emerson et al. (2016) also pointed out the significance of psychological factors in the increase in overweight and obesity. Emotional problems such as depression, stress, or anxiety may lead individuals to engage in compulsive eating

habits that may lead not only to being overweight but to overall poor health. Molema et al. (2019) discussed the importance of improving diet and physical activity. Being active may decrease the risk of chronic diseases such as heart disease and may also be associated with a better quality of life.

Overeating is an unhealthy habit that results from poor lifestyle choices (Sogari et al., 2018). In 2016, 40% of the world's population was estimated to be overweight or obese, conditions that increase the risk of developing various diseases (Yu et al., 2016). Pokrajac-Bulian et al. (2018) also noted that serious conditions such as obesity can cause a person to develop Type II diabetes mellitus. According to the World Health Organization (2020), billions of people are considered overweight, and millions more throughout the world are obese. Pokrajac-Bulian et al. (2018) concluded that Type II diabetes mellitus can be associated with psychological factors, including stress, anxiety, depression, and even mood swings, any of which can contribute to overeating that may lead to overweight and obesity.

Lifestyles of Middle Eastern Women and Obesity

In 2014, the World Health Organization recognized that obesity had increased among the Middle Eastern population in just 5 years (as cited in Alzaman & Ali, 2016). According to Weiderpass et al. (2019), the rate of obesity in the whole Middle East has been increasing since 1980, when the obesity rate was at 15%; it increased to 21% in a matter of 35 years. Similarly, Weiderpass et al. (2019) emphasized the prevalence of obesity among women was about 49% in Kuwait, making it the second-highest level of obesity in the Middle East after Qatar, which has the highest obesity rates in the

Mediterranean region. The rate of overweight and obesity, as reported by Saleh et al. (2018), is estimated to be the second worldwide. Alzaman and Ali (2016) showed the relationship between the increase in obesity and a possible health crisis that Middle Eastern citizens may undergo. One of the essential events mentioned in the study includes the sedentary lifestyle of the population, one that may be a factor in increasing obesity among women. Women are more likely to have a sedentary lifestyle; exercising or going to the gym is not a part of the Middle Eastern culture. Many women in the Middle East also wear traditional clothing that both hides their figures and makes physical activity difficult, decreasing their motivation to attempt physical activities (Sharara et al., 2018). This inactivity may increase obesity that may eventually lead to increased risk of developing chronic diseases such as Type II diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease, and breathing problems (ALNohair, 2014).

Many Middle Eastern women grow up in conservative families that teach them specific behavior they are supposed to follow, but they lack information about health and the need for physical activity (Donnelly et al., 2018). They are also discouraged or forbidden by their families to go leave their homes without a male relative, and when they move with their families to the United States, they continue this practice (Donnelly et al., 2018). Therefore, women in the Middle East, in the Gulf region to be specific, have limited access to physical activities, and they are more likely to stay home and take care of children. Middle Eastern women are also expected to have multiple pregnancies, and thus, they are likely to have a maid to help them with the housework and any shopping outside of the house when needed (ALNohair, 2014).

One of the few sanctioned activities for women outside the home is meeting with other women in their homes to socialize and to discuss household affairs. They find comfort in this activity and develop the support of others in the same situation (Mosher et al., 2018). When they move to the United States, they seek the same comfortable social practices, which almost always include sharing and enjoying food (Donnelly et al., 2018). Middle Eastern women are typically in an environment that has food readily available because those women who emigrate to the United States are unlikely to have a job (Donnelly et al., 2018).

Adults may also suffer from an increase in anxiety after they are diagnosed with diabetes mellitus Type II because of fear of the effects of the disease on their health, including hypoglycemia, blindness, loss of limbs, and kidney disease. Conditions such as those also raise the fear of early mortality (Pokrajac-Bulian et al., 2018). Although obesity is known to contribute to chronic, debilitating illnesses such as cardiac disease and respiratory-related diseases and conditions, as well as illnesses that may cause the brain to degenerate (Song et al., 2018), the satisfaction of eating at the moment seems to outweigh any anxiety about long-term negative effects. Alalwan et al. (2019) reported an increase in obesity among women in Bahrain. The authors also observed that increases in weight may cause significant lifestyle changes that lead people to seek unhealthy behaviors such as overeating and decreasing physical activities (Alalwan et al., 2019). Alalwan et al. reported that even simple changes in one's daily routine might increase stress levels that can lead to overeating. They also cited emotional eating among women

in Bahrain as being associated with increased energy intake, high calorie-containing foods, and lack of exercising (Alalwan et al., 2019).

Emotional Eating

Emotional eating, the practice of excessive consumption of food in response to psychological changes, is usually marked by the inability to find reasons for eating to excess (Jones et al., 2019). Jones et al. (2019) determined that emotional eating begins when individuals are unable to express, understand, or evaluate their own psychological distress. Negative emotions such as stress and depression may cause them to seek ways to feel better, and that may result in finding satisfaction in eating. The latter practice can distract people from their problems and lead them to find a way that is socially acceptable, and which provides physical and emotional comfort (Samuel & Cohen, 2018). The authors, Samuel and Cohen (2018), further determined that emotional eating varies depending on the individuals and the type of the problem or psychological distress they are experiencing. Similarly, they reported that adults are more likely than children to regulate their psychological distress through eating and that negative emotions are more highly correlated with emotional eating than positive emotions (Samuel & Cohen, 2018).

Likewise, Meyer et al. (2010) focused on understanding the levels of emotions and the ability of the individual to tolerate negative feelings. Researchers have indicated that eating disorders, including eating in response to emotions, depends on how individuals express their feelings (Meyer et al., 2010). Some believe that expressing emotions is a sign of weakness, and they should keep it to themselves. Others believe that negative emotions may harm others if they are shared, so they keep their feelings inside.

Meyer et al. thought that these types of behaviors could be associated with posttraumatic stress disorder and high levels of stress. Meyer et al. believe that women, in particular, have high levels of eating disorders because they are more likely to hold unhealthy attitudes toward expressing their negative feelings than men. Meyer et al. agreed with the hypothesis and found a positive correlation between emotional eating and negative attitudes toward expressing feelings among women. The authors, Meyer et al. (2010), claimed that social support among this particular population, including Middle Eastern women, may have a positive impact on their overall mental health.

Shouse and Nilsson (2011) also discussed that the development of eating disorders might be due to the suppression of voice among many individuals, females in particular. Self-silencing is a serious issue, and it is highly correlated with mental health problems such as anxiety and depression. It is believed that self-silencing begins at a younger age and may develop into a depression that leads to unhealthy eating habits in the future. Social media views of body image and the idea of thin bodies have led many women to fast or use other ways to lose their weight to look slim. This has led many women to ignore the cues for hunger to reach the goal of losing weight (Shouse & Nilson, 2011). Shouse and Nilsson also reported that women who silence their emotions might have a high possibility of developing mental illness that can, in return, allow them to find comfort in overeating. Because of the suppressed feelings, women are more likely to overeat in response to negative emotions. Shouse and Nilsson also showed a positive relationship between self-silencing and unhealthy eating habits. At the same time, women

who speak their minds and share their feelings are less likely to experience unhealthy eating patterns.

Other studies revealed that emotional eating can exist in healthy individuals as well as those with unhealthy eating habits. Wong and Qian (2016) reported that women are more likely to develop a learned behavior eating disorder than men. This practice may develop when a person discovers that eating makes him or her feel happy, and thus it becomes a way to cope with negative emotions. Overeating can become worse over time if it is not managed. Wong and Qian focused on understanding whether feelings such as low self-consciousness and high self-consciousness are associated with emotional eating; in other words, exploring the role of shame and its relationship with this eating disorder. The results of the Wong and Qian study showed a positive correlation between shame and emotional eating among women. The authors discussed the positive association between shame and depression, which leads individuals to seek comfort food to help them cope (Wong & Qian, 2016).

Emotional eating is also associated with induced negative emotions that may also contribute to emotional eating. When people experience stress or depression, they may be more likely to find eating to be a quick escape from these negative emotions. Therefore, if the episodes of stress and depression increase, the likelihood of emotional eating may also increase (Annesi, 2019). Braden et al. (2018) reported that emotional eaters often consume foods that are higher in calories than nonemotional eaters do and that those who eat in response to stressors are more likely to snack more frequently than nonemotional eaters. The authors also noted that adverse health outcomes may be associated with

increased negative emotions that individuals may experience if they become aware that their eating habits cannot be managed (Braden et al., 2018).

Van Strien et al. (2016) examined whether the relationship between the effect of emotional eating and depression was similar in Spain and Denmark. The researchers examined the impact of emotional eating in these countries by gender and changes in appetite (van Strien et al., 2016). Denmark was found to have higher rates of depression than Spain and revealed a positive mediation effect of emotional eating for females with a change of appetite in Denmark (van Strien et al., 2016). However, the Spanish participants suggested that emotional eating affected females more than males, but there was no change of appetite (van Strien et al., 2016). The results suggested that depression is highly associated with emotional eating, which leads to obesity that may followed by life-threatening diseases in females more than for males (van Strien et al., 2016). Females are more likely to experience difficulties with adjusting to stressful situations; therefore, they are more likely to find other ways to find ways to make them feel better, such as eating even when they are not hungry.

One of the essential factors of overweight and obesity among young adults includes mental changes, including depression. Lazarevich et al. (2016) determined the existence of a strong relationship between depression symptoms and the increase in obesity. At the same time, the authors reported that depression symptoms might lead to overweight and obesity and cause a young adult to develop mental changes. Depression can also cause psychological or emotional eating. The study also showed that individuals are more likely to overeat to cope with stress, frustration, sadness, and anxiety and tend

not to care about the amount they eat as long as they forget what is bothering them. In a study among Dutch adults who were suffering from depression, the authors found that one coping mechanism included food, resulting in higher BMI levels among depressed women more than men. Emotional eating can become an unhealthy behavior that puts individuals at risk of developing diseases that affect their quality of life.

Emotional eating, also known as comfort eating, is also associated with responses to depression. Finch and Tomiyama (2015) concluded that depression is associated with the tendency to self-medicate by eating in response to negative emotions. In an experiment with women suffering from depression, Finch and Tomiyama determined that chocolate and cheese helped reduce depression and confirmed their effectiveness by measuring their traumas, stress levels, and symptoms of depression of the study group following the experiment with these foods. The results were that the positive effects of comfort eating increased no matter what level of stress and depression the person was experiencing, confirming a relationship between reduced anxiety and emotional eating.

Van Strien et al. (2020) examined possible mediators, including emotional eating, between diet and weight change that occur in women more than men. Dieters may limit themselves from having full meals, and therefore, their bodies start to act as if in starvation mode, which increases their hunger and appetite. The authors noted that going through a diet is already stressful, so dieters are likely to get affected by negative emotions and find comfort in overeating. The study included 116 women to examine whether emotional eating is a mediator among dieters and their weight gain. The results of this study showed emotional eating was a consistent mediator among dieters and the

subsequent change in weight. The authors reported that emotional eating must be taken into account when treating female dieters for overweight and obesity.

Similarly, Dhivyadharshini et al. (2019) reported that during stressful events, restrained individuals tend to increase their eating habits more than unrestrained ones. Those who change their living environments, for example, going to live on a college campus, may experience stress due to the new change. Also, it is found that those who are stressed are more likely to consume unhealthy snacks, including soda and junk food, compared to those who are less stressed, who are more likely to include fruits and vegetables into their daily meals. The authors did a study to measure how individuals react during stressful situations. The population used in this study included 118 individuals. Some of these individuals ate less when they underwent stress; however, the majority, 66%, found comfort in overeating due to stress.

Studies that focus on distinguishing if stress is linked to obesity by means of food quality and eating characteristics or by other components aside from diet are scarce, especially when it comes to women in low socioeconomic standing (Richardson et al., 2015). Individuals, women more than men, are more likely to become unhealthy due to stressors. Unhealthy eating can be identified as a coping mechanism for some women. Individuals who are stressed or depressed are likely to seek high carbs and fat-containing snacks instead of fruit and vegetables. The authors also mentioned that women with low incomes are likely to be stressed and seek unhealthy food, including fast foods, to help cope with the stress. The authors conducted a study to understand whether high levels of stress are associated with severe obesity among women in low socioeconomic standing.

The results of this study showed a positive relationship between stress and severe obesity among low-income women. The authors identified this association as stress or emotional eating that women practice when they go through panic attacks or stress events. Women eat in response to these negative emotions to help decrease the pressure, especially if these women have children that they have to take care of and feed.

Risks of Emotional Eating

Duarte et al. (2015) reported that women feel shame, guilt, and even more distress after they realize they are gaining weight. Thus, ironically, they may tend to overeat in response to their negative emotions and decreased self-confidence caused by weight gain. Although some do not necessarily overeat and gain weight in response to negative emotions, emotional eating, according to Frayn et al. (2018), is correlated with increased compulsive eating habits, decreased social interactions, and lower self-monitoring. If the eating becomes chronic, it may lead to physical illness and a greater risk of mortality. Abdelaal et al. (2017) revealed not only the relationship between obesity and higher mortality levels but also the decreased quality of life among those suffering from illnesses caused by being overweight.

Mensorio et al. (2017) reported that emotional eating is considered one of the most serious eating problems because of its mental and physical effects on the individual. the author also hypothesized that emotional eating is associated with the presence of cholesterol because of the dysregulation with food people undergo because of psychological illnesses. The study conducted among 68 overweight and obese individuals, mostly women, revealed a relationship between psychological diseases and

increased cholesterol levels. The study also illustrated that mental disorders such as stress and anxiety tend to justify a person's overeating, resulting in inappropriate food choices that may cause obesity (Mensorio et al., 2017). This obesity may also be associated not only with diabetes mellitus Type II, but various chronic diseases such as hypertension and hyperlipidemia (Mensorio et al., 2017; Garcia et al., 2018).

Cotter and Kelly (2018) observed that the number of obese adults in the United States started to increase, placing significant numbers of people at higher risk of developing chronic diseases that may affect their quality of life. The authors also noted that the behavioral and psychological changes that individuals with stress and depression experience may also lead to an increase in eating and subsequent obesity. Cotter and Kelly (2018) also reported that stress has a high association with the rise in body mass index (BMI) among females more than males. Similarly, stress and depression have been a factor in increasing overeating among women, as eating can be used to cope with negative emotions. Overeating is, however inadvertently, a coping method used by some women that increases the likelihood of their developing many chronic conditions such as heart disease and many types of cancers.

Wilson et al. (2015) revealed that 3 out of 10 college students are considered to be overweight or obese. The authors reported that the most affected age group by obesity are those between the age of 18 to 29 years. There are multiple reasons why college students could experience weight gain, including stress because of school, poor dietary choices, lack of physical exercise, lack of social interaction, or depression. Emotional eating is associated with increased health-related risks such as hypertension, Type II diabetes

mellitus, or heart disease. The authors wanted to explore coping mechanisms used to handle stress among college students, suggesting emotional eating as a predictor. Their results indicated that young adults, females more than males, are likely to gain weight when transitioning into college. College is considered to be a stressor, and one coping mechanism used among students, as the study showed, is overeating.

Emotional eating is highly associated with increased consumption of high fat and carbohydrate-containing foods. It is also associated with high BMI levels, demonstrating overweight and obesity (Bourdier et al. 2018). Emotional eating, as indicated by the authors, is associated with negative emotions leading individuals to overeat. Previous studies, as reported by the authors, have shown that negative moods are highly associated with increased eating behaviors, whereas those with positive emotions report no desire for high food intake. Emotional eating is a reaction to adverse events that cause individuals to undergo changes in weight that can have an impact on their overall health. Therefore, one of the significant risks of emotional eating is obesity, which can be developed if the person becomes an emotional eater in response to adverse events or trauma

Emotional Eating Among Middle Eastern Women

Because the region has suffered through many wars, Middle Eastern countries manifest high stress levels among its citizens, who have a greater risk of developing serious responses to stress or depression than those in peaceful areas (Al-Thani & Khaled, 2018; Doumit et al., 2016). Civil unrest also strongly affected them, as many suffered a great deal of stress and anxiety (Doumit et al., 2016). When the hostilities

ended, and they were able to relax and let their guards down, they subsequently gained weight. Those results suggest a correlation between suffering from harrowing experiences when food is unavailable and overeating when food is plentiful (Doumit et al., 2016).

The increase in obesity and overweight individuals in the Middle Eastern is often related to chronic comorbidities and high rates of mortality (Saleh et al., 2018). People in Middle Eastern countries are likely to develop eating disorders such as emotional eating, especially girls and women. The authors hypothesized that Palestinian women going to college are more likely to undergo emotional eating due to the lifestyle changes and stressors they may encounter. Participants in this study were large female students from An-Najah National University in Palestine. The results of this study were compared to the rates of other countries such as Iran, the United States, France, Greece, and others; the results showed higher levels of emotional eating among Middle Eastern females than most of the compared countries. Palestinian women grow up with traditions and a culture that is different than the Israeli culture. Multiple universities in Palestine, including An-Najah National University, include both Palestinians and Israeli female students, which are two different cultures. When Palestinians attend these universities, they become exposed to the Israeli culture that they generally have limited contact with before attending college. This exposure could impact the views of Palestinian women concerning body weight and image and, therefore, may cause these individuals to undergo low self-esteem, which causes stress and anxiety. Emotional eating is one of the coping resources used to overcome these stressful events.

Although intense emotions may lead to not eating at all, a study by Van Strien (2018) showed that those who are stressed or depressed may develop intense feelings of deprivation and might choose to eat to excess to try to feel better. The practice of ignoring diet, calories, and nutrition can also lead to obesity and overweight. The study focused on examining whether psychological distress, such as negative emotions, may be a factor in increasing weight gain and argued that increased weight gain is more prevalent among females than males because women are more likely to undergo emotional distress that may lead to abandonment of a healthy diet. Van Strien (2018) conducted two studies to learn whether psychological conditions such as depression and stress may be causing an increase in weight gain in children. The studies, however, showed that it is usually true only among girls because they are more likely to develop psychological/emotional distress than boys are. The study also indicated that the problem might start at a younger age and increase as the person gets older.

Acculturation and Emotional Eating

Acculturation refers to individuals being able to adapt to new cultures and traditions that may not be like their own, including the differences in language, religion, customs, and the overall lifestyle of the new country (Erten et al. 2018). The Cordero and Gutierrez (2016) study aimed to understand how Latina adults adjust to being less acculturated than those from many other countries when they move to the United States due to the strong orientation toward their own culture. The focus of this study was to learn whether Latina women who were less acculturated are more susceptible to developing anxiety, depression, and stress that affected their weight-related eating

behaviors. One hundred forty-one women who were adults from a graduate program participated in the study. The results showed that Latina women who moved to the United States were more likely to develop mental changes such as anxiety, depression, and stress and therefore become emotional eaters.

Acculturative stress, according to Claudat et al. (2016), is the process of adjusting to a new culture in which the individual undergoes internal conflicts to settle cultural differences. Seeking a standard solution to combining their own culture with the new culture may cause them to undergo mental changes. The authors reported that Asians and Latinos are more likely to develop an eating pathology such as overeating in response to depressive feelings they experience when they move to the United States, as they are more likely to become stressed and depressed because of body image and appearance. The authors also noted that exposure to the American's ideal body image for women and their appearance could cause women from different cultures to undergo distress. Consequently, self-esteem can be a factor in less acculturated women overeating to cope with the stressful environment. The authors also noted that women college students, more often than males, are at greater risk of becoming emotional eaters due to peer influence. The study examined the relationship between stress, self-esteem, and overeating among Asian and Latina female college students who moved to the United States. The results of this study showed a positive relationship between acculturative stress, eating pathology such as emotional eating, and self-esteem.

Latinas who live in the United States, as indicated by Reyes-Rodríguez et al. (2016), were also found to undergo eating disorders including overeating in response to

stress. The authors reported that Latina women were also found to have a higher prevalence of overweight and obesity than white women. Latinas are used to the traditional food that they make at home every day, which includes tortillas, rice, beans, and different types of salsa. Latina mothers feel strongly about cooking at home and allow their children to get used to traditional dishes. However, when Latina women move to a different country, including the United States, they undergo several changes in their lives including financial stressors, lifestyle changes, change in time, and overall convenience. Therefore, many Latinas seek foods that are affordable to them, given their financial constraints. Many Latinas seek jobs right away to make a living. Thus, they do not watch their diets and they depend on fast foods as being one of the essential options due to its low cost and fast service. For some women who stay home without jobs may find overeating an easy way to take their minds off of their current situation. They also find their children prefer American fast foods like burgers, fries, and hot-dogs than homecooked meals. This change may put pressure on these women, especially lessacculturated Latinas, and they are likely to snack and find overeating comforting (Cordero & Gutierrez, 2016; Reyes-Rodríguez et al., 2016).

D'Alonzo et al. (2019) discussed the health-related changes that Mexican immigrants undergo, including heart disease, the longer they stay in the United States. Mexican women are reported to have one of the highest rates of obesity-related diseases, including Metabolic Syndrome (MS), in the world. One of the most critical factors that increases the rates of MS among this population is the impact of acculturation among women, in specific. Women may suffer from separation from their support systems,

lifestyle changes, cultural differences, financial struggles, language barriers, and difficulty of finding jobs. These struggles cause women to feel stressed and depressed, and therefore they become more susceptible to overeating to cope with these emotions. The authors hypothesized that Mexican women have higher levels of obesity-related diseases, such as Allostatic Load (AL), which may contribute to MS when they move to the United States due to stress. The results of this study showed an increase in AL among Mexican women who moved to the United States. The results also showed higher BMI levels among this particular population, primarily upon their arrival to the United States. The authors concluded that Mexican women might find nutrition transitioning, besides other factors, from their hometown to their current homes difficult; in that case, they depend on unhealthy foods to satisfy their needs.

Similar studies, including the one by Cachelin et al. (2006), discussed that many Latina women find their larger bodies rather attractive among their population. It is believed that there is quite an ethnic difference in body size preference between Hispanic and non-Hispanic (white) women. Latina women are known to care about dieting much less than white women. However, this particular population may start to experience dissatisfaction with their bodies upon immigrating to the United States. Because Western people believe that the ideal body image includes those with thinner figures, Latina women may become affected by this change when they move to the United States. Therefore, this study focused on understanding whether body image and acculturation among Hispanic women have a significant effect on their overall health. This study found that many Hispanic women tend to become obese upon moving to the United States

because of the psychological changes they experience, including the shame of not having thinner figures. Health professionals, as advised by the authors, must consider these factors when treating Hispanic women who are suffering from obesity.

Alidu and Grunfeld (2018) found that many women who move to the United States gained unhealthy weight because their families ate to relieve the stress and anxiety of moving to a different culture with expectations that were different from their former country. Although that would not seem to have as deleterious an effect as living through wartime, others have suggested that leaving one's home country even under peacetime conditions, may be tantamount to suffering through as devastating a condition as experiencing a loss in war (Shishehgar et al., 2015).

Emotional problems can also contribute to the increase in overeating among women who eat as a source of comfort (Mosher et al., 2018), and Emerson, Hurley et al. (2016) suggested that many psychological factors, including stress, depression, and anxiety, can lead women to overeat and subsequently suffer from poor health. The authors also suggested that factors such as depression, anxiety, and stress may lead individuals to overeat in response to these emotions. Emotional eating may, however, increase the individual's BMI and lead to chronic diseases. Negative emotions may have resulted from multiple reasons, including gender, culture, ethnicity, pregnancy, and traditions. These causes may allow women, more than men, to seek comfort in eating. Al-Dosari (2019) presented other factors that might influence the increase in overeating among women, especially those from the Middle East. The author noted that moving from one's home country may increase the risk of developing mental problems such as stress and

depression. The researcher also listed multiple events that may cause overeating in Middle Eastern women who have moved to the United States: They may be having difficulty becoming acclimatized to life in a new country and, as a result, may be experiencing increasing stress, anxiety, fear, or depression. Their husbands will typically be engaged in work outside the home, and the women may have few, if any, women friends to discuss their lives with. Except those who are employed themselves, Middle Eastern women who lack acquaintances to talk with typically do not seek outside activities unless they are highly self-sufficient, as their culture and often their husbands may not give their permission for them to seek activities outside their culture or family. A personal choice they make that may that give them a sense of power, control, and pleasure is eating.

Stress

Stress refers to the body's reaction to certain challenging events that leave the individual sad, angry, or frustrated (Besse et al., 2018). Stress is considered a common psychological change that affects individuals in various ways. The authors observed that stress is highly associated with cognitive impairment, decreased physical activities, and increased depression symptoms. Stress is also correlated with reduced energy, appetite change, and decreased socialization. Chronic stress is known to be one of the psychological risks that lead to chronic diseases. Stress can also be associated with poor mental health and the occurrence of other psychological illnesses such as anxiety and depression. Individuals who suffer from stress may not be able to perform well at their jobs because they are unable to concentrate fully. The authors tested an intervention

method used by an employer to ensure that employees can work their best without having to go through chronic stress. This method is known as individual placement support (IPS), which ensures that those who experience psychological changes can find the support they need to keep the problem from becoming chronic. This method was effective with the employees used in the study, as participants seemed to have a positive reaction when they spoke about their problems with others and tried to find solutions for them.

Stress has long been cited as having a deleterious effect on a person's health. Jaff and Woods (2018) noted the negative effects of stress on a person's health and quality of life, while Sievert et al. (2018) noted the different life events women may undergo that can cause them to experience stress, including lifestyle changes, financial crises, family conflicts, divorce, racism, and sexism. The authors also found that the accumulation of trauma may lead to life-long stress that affects the individual's physical health and social welfare.

Dalton and Hammen (2018) concluded that factors such as increased habits of oversleeping, substance abuse, alcoholism, overeating might all be related to psychological changes, including stress. Unhealthy habits begin to develop slowly and become difficult to control if they are not managed. For example, acute stress reactions can turn into chronic stress if it is not managed earlier. Those who try to cope with their feelings of stress may indulge in risky behaviors such as overeating, smoking, drinking, or drug use to make themselves feel better. Those suffering from stress and depression experience more negative energy than positive ones and are likely to feel anger, worry, or

guilt, and have fewer feelings of happiness, satisfaction, or motivation. If they seek an activity that helps decrease such feelings, they may choose behaviors that cause more harm than good.

The results of a 2017 study by Levoy et al. suggested that mental changes can initiate comfort eating in many individuals. Negative emotions are generally developed after the person experiences trauma or stressful events that may allow risky behaviors to begin. The authors found that treating stress is essential to decrease and prevent health-related behaviors from occurring. Once stress is reduced, the individual may be less likely to need to continue other activities to feel better.

Challenging situations may create negative emotions that disturb the individual's daily activities and his or her overall quality of life if they are continued. Feltrin et al. (2019) studied the effects of stress on a student's quality of life at a teaching hospital. The results of that study showed that stress was highly associated with the disturbance of the internal balance among those students. Stress, then, affected the quality of life of these students and seemed to prompt them to attempt risky behaviors such as smoking, using drugs, and overeating. The authors also reported that social interaction has been shown to be a useful way to help people decrease their feelings of stress and are associated with increased attempts to pursue healthy activities.

Konttinen et al. reported in a 2019 study that some tend to overeat to cope with mental changes or negative emotions they may be experiencing. Women, in particular, may overeat in response to psychological traumas such as stress, depression, fear, or anxiety more than men do (Emerson et al., 2016), while Dardas and Simmons (2015)

noted that those who experience mental illnesses will also experience negative healthrelated outcomes if they overeat or become obese.

Vicennati et al. (2009), for example, believed that individuals who cannot cope with stressful events might experience health-related illnesses if the case becomes chronic. For instance, abnormal deposition of visceral adipose tissue, insulin resistance, inability to tolerate glucose in the body, high risks of heart-related diseases, including coronary artery disease, can be developed due to prolonged exposure of stress. This study also discussed the relationship between increased food intake and chronic stress, among women in particular. The study focused on understanding whether there is a stress-related involvement of obesity and cortisol levels among women. It was found that women who experience stress-related obesity have a rapid onset of developing abnormal adrenocortical function than those with non-stress-related obesity.

Razzoli et al. (2017) reported that people respond to stressing experiences in various ways. Although some may lose their appetites, others overeat as they try to cope. Challenging events can produce negative responses and increase the risk of obesity and overeating among many people. It may cause a disturbance in the person's life and disrupt his or her overall lifestyle. Stress, if not controlled, can become a serious problem and may cause overeating. Chronic stress may also cause the person to develop mental and physical disturbances that reduce his or her quality of life. The authors suggested annotative therapies to help better manage stressful events and decrease the risk of overeating and obesity.

Depression

Depression, according to Mickeviciene et al. (2019), is associated with brain and motor dysfunction among those suffering from the condition. People who are depressed may have difficulties making decisions and learning new information. The author also noted that depressed people typically become more depressed when they try to learn and find they have difficulty understanding and retaining new information (Mickeviciene et al., 2019). Many seek ways to overcome their depression and may find and indulge in risky behaviors as a result, including drug or alcohol use (Dalton & Hammen, 2018). Depression, although it has been manifested in many way and stems from many causes as the culture becomes more complex, is the reaction produced in response to challenging events or trauma that cause a person to experience fear and sadness (Maji, 2018). It continues to be related to those causes, but it has developed into multiple categories that describe the severity of the depressive state and the treatment it requires. These categories also classify the condition depending on their cognitive, behavioral, or cognitive processes.

An essential distinction that must be remembered when defining depression is that it is more prevalent in women than men. Maji (2018) reported that actual gender differences in depression are not biological but are products of social forces. Depression will increase as long as society continues to define women as dependent and treats men as the source of power. Depression will also increase unless and until the culture evolves to the point that men and women have the same pay, treatment, and resources for the

same work. The culture, according to Maji, often contributes to increasing depression symptoms among women that can become chronic and cause actual physical illnesses.

Depression is one of the most common mental disorders and one of the leading health indicators of significant diseases such as stroke, heart disease, fibromyalgia, and chronic pain (Goodwin, 2006; Le, Muñoz et al., 2003). The World Health Organization, according to Le et al. (2003), reported that depression is responsible for 11 percent of major health disabilities worldwide. It affects women more than men; in particular, there is one case of depression in every five women. Le et al. (2003) acknowledged many reasons why women are more likely to become depressed than men. It is believed that society has a significant impact on how women are valued at work. Women are more likely to have less power than men, and they are looked at as being responsible for meeting the demands of both their homes as well as the workplace. They are more likely to be discriminated against and go through domestic violence in the workplace. Women may also have more financial struggles than men due to having lower pay rates than men. Women may also struggle when transitioning to motherhood, which increases their responsibilities and therefore, may be at risk of developing depression. Le et al. (2003) recommended psychological help to help reduce depression symptoms among women to help decrease the chances of developing chronic diseases in the future.

The number of people suffering from depression, according to Konttinen et al. (2019), has reached nearly 300 million throughout the world. Although some researchers have shown that depression is associated with weight loss and loss of appetite, more researchers have found that the causes of obesity are more highly correlated with

affect not only people's cognitive performance but also their social interactions and behaviors as well, as they are also associated with decreased positive energy and productivity (Yeshaw & Mossie, 2017). Because depression can cause an individual to feel a loss of control, finding comfort through a necessary and acceptable activity such as eating is one way to overcome that depression (Garcia et al., 2018).

In 2015, depression was ranked as the second cause of disease worldwide and often contributes to attempts at suicide. As depression is linked to a high mortality rate, it is also associated with an increase in risky behaviors. Zhang et al. (2019) believed that people should be checked for signs of depression at a young age because the condition can affect a person's physical and mental health and lead to chronic diseases that are difficult to manage in later life. The authors also studied whether depressive symptoms were related to poor oral health among college students, with the results revealing a clear association between depression and poor oral health. Since depression may contribute to a poor diet, depressed college students are likely to be malnourished as they may ignore good nutrition.

Albert (2015) predicted that by the year 2030, the primary cause of diseases among women will be depression that may manifest itself as early as puberty. Similarly, women have higher rates of depression at older ages than men. Albert also reported that one of the reasons women more than men develop depression and mental distress can be because women are typically more sensitive to their environments and develop close relationships more easily than men.

Majumdar et al. (2019) discussed the relationship between depression and sleep disorders. These authors reported that tragic life events, chronic pain, overall changes in lifestyle, and others might cause individuals to undergo depression or anxiety, which in turn may cause sleep disturbances. Sleep disorders are known to be associated with chronic diseases such as cancer, diabetes mellitus Type II, and hypertension. The authors aimed to measure the extent of poor sleep quality and mental health changes, including depression, through screening programs. The authors also sought to understand other predictors for poor sleep among females. Their results of this study demonstrated that poor-quality sleep among females is highly associated with anxiety and depression.

Carpena et al. (2019) discussed the high prevalence of depression among the Latin community, in specific, those in low-income settings. The authors reported higher levels of depression occurred in Brazil, in particular Southern Brazil and Sao Paulo, for which the prevalence of depression has reached 10.4% annually. It was noted that depression is highly associated with the increase of the Brazilian currency. Therefore, the study aimed to understand the risk factors of depression among adults living in urban areas in Brazil. This study confirms explicitly that cases of depression in women are three times higher than in men, even after examining socioeconomic variables. This study also indicated that among other studies, the prevalence of depression among women is consistently high among low, medium, and high-income countries, including Brazil and Italy.

Dardas et al. (2018) reported that many studies have shown those who believe that biological factors cause depression may nonetheless have a positive attitude toward those

with depression symptoms; however, those who have negative attitudes toward depression prefer social distancing and may treat those with this condition as sick. The authors also noted that depression is defined differently depending on the culture. Individuals who were raised to think that depression is a sickness that crazy people have will react differently from those who believe the condition is a reaction to stress or trauma. In one example, the authors presented the results of a study of Iranians who were raised to believe depression is a normal part of life. However, the authors said that Middle Eastern people tend to stigmatize the term, causing many people to believe females more than males—that they should not seek professional help for the condition. Rather, they are encouraged to talk to family members when they need help. As a consequence, Middle Easterners, at a younger age, may accept the fact that depression is a biological factor that happens to many, especially women, and that women should continue with their lives and accept the condition. It is believed that seeking psychological help is humiliating and is only to be sought by those who have a severe mental illness.

Middle Eastern women who emigrate to the United States face the difficulties of acculturation into a society that is significantly different from the one they left in their home countries. One profound difference is the independence of many American women who do not have to rely on their husbands for support. Lacking contemporaries or role models, they are also more likely to undergo stress and depression than other ethnicities, yet they are discouraged from acknowledging depression or admitting they have mental health problems or frustrations (Dardas & Simmons, 2015). Because acknowledging

problems such as these are taboo in Middle Eastern culture, women sublimate and hide them and do not seek psychological help because of the fear of what their spouse, families, or friends would think of them if they did (Dardas & Simmons, 2015). Dealing with depression and stress is also a significant challenge among this population since treatment options are limited. Women are expected to share their thoughts and feelings only with their spouse or family members if they are feeling distressed (Qutteina et al., 2018).

Trauma, including the events of 9/11, has led to a surge in discrimination against Middle Eastern individuals. Muslims, in particular, are an at-risk group (Al Wekhian, 2015). Discrimination against Arabs has presented itself in various ways in the United States since the 9/11 attacks. Women with head-covers are especially prone to those attacks; the discrimination they might face in places, such as supermarkets and the workplace, is a constant worry. For those reasons, women with head-covers tend to avoid leaving their homes. The author discussed that such events might lead individuals to undergo mental changes such as depression, anxiety, or stress. Therefore, Middle Eastern individuals may keep themselves within their community to avoid the discrimination that they may get with other groups.

Associations Among Psychological Illness, Acculturation, and Emotional Eating

Corazon et al. (2018) argued that stress-related illness is a growing issue that negatively affects well-being and also noted that many diseases are associated with stress, such as hypertension, heart-related conditions, as well as other psychological illnesses, including depression. The authors in this study also reported that stress not only affects

the individual's health and well-being, but also creates negative economic conditions due to increases in the requests for health care services, increased days lost from work, and early retirement. Konttinen et al. (2019) argued that many of those individuals, mainly women, tend to overeat in response to stressful situations and may become obese if that eating is not checked. In the case of immigrants, one of these situations includes leaving their homes and moving to a new country where they may lack their familiar traditions, culture, or social support. Feelings of isolation may create stress that eventually leads to significant depression (Li et al., 2014).

Emotional eating can also be caused by mental illness, negative emotions, or trauma that may influence people to seek food whenever they are distressed—even if they are not hungry and do not have the desire to eat (Emerson et al., 2016). It might have been a practice in their families in the home country for women to eat rather than indulge in less acceptable ways of giving vent to their frustrations. Emerson et al. also reported that women who do not work outside the home are more likely to experience the kind of psychological distress that leads to seeking comfort in food, possibly because they do not have the outlets for their energy and interests that others might have through employment. Emotional eating among women is a problem that in a 2019 study, Abdul Razzak, Harbi, and Ahli determined that women in the Middle East are more likely than other groups to develop psychological illnesses such as depression that may lead them to overeat. These unhealthy eating habits may continue and even become accelerated when they move to a foreign country where they are in an unfamiliar setting without the family and friends of their home country.

Summary

Women who move to the United States from a Middle Eastern country often experience unintended weight gain. One of the causes of this condition is that living in a new country may contribute to stress and depression because of losing the comfort of loved ones in their home country, anxiety about acceptance in the United States, and lack of familiarity with new customs (Shishehgar et al., 2015). Although weight loss may be associated with mental illnesses (Wang & Geng, 2019), some people women may self-medicate by eating, as the process can be physically and emotionally satisfying (Duarte et al., 2015). This practice is called "comfort eating" (Finch & Tomiyama, 2015), which carries with it the problem of serious potential weight gain and may lead to physical problems as well as diseases such as diabetes mellitus Type II.

Chapter 3 I included a detailed description of the methodology I used to determine whether there was any direct relationship between psychological illnesses and obesity in Middle Eastern women who have moved to the United States. I also included a description of the study design and the method used to select participants who took part in the study. In it, I also presented the procedures, instrumentation, research questions, data analysis, threats to validity, and ethical considerations, as well as the reason I selected this study design and the rationale for the sample size.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating among Arabic Middle Eastern women who moved to the United States. Few researchers have explored the relationship among this set of variables and whether emotional eating mediates the relationship among them in this population. I used a quantitative approach to examine other potential factors that may contribute to the increase in overweight and obesity among Arab women from the Middle East who moved to the United States. This chapter includes a description of the study design, participants of the study, methodology including population, procedures, instrumentations, research questions, and data analysis. Furthermore, this chapter addresses threats to validity as well as ethical considerations.

Research Design and Rationale

This study utilizes a quantitative approach because it is designed to examine a relationship among variables. I chose this nonexperimental design to examine possible relationships between variables that may account for excessive eating among a specific population. I used an online survey design using social media, specifically Facebook, for recruitment of an adequate sample quickly and without monetary cost. A few issues are associated with online surveys: the participants are chosen using a convenience sample, they may or may not be honest in their answers, and the researcher has no control over the data collection setting (Nayak et al., 2019). I examined the relationship between the three predictor variables—stress, depression, acculturation—and the outcome variable—

emotional eating—among Arabic Middle Eastern women who moved to the United States. I used means, standard deviation, and simple bivariate correlation coefficients to determine whether the relationship between the variables was statistically significant. I also examined the relationship between Arabic Middle Eastern women and obesity; then I assessed the relationship between emotional eating and acculturation. Finally, I examined whether there was an association between psychological changes, acculturation, and emotional eating. I utilized standard multiple regression analysis to test for an association among stress, depression, and acculturation as the predictors, respectively, and emotional eating as the outcome.

Methodology

Population

The population for this research included adult women from any Arabic country in the Middle East, 18 years of age and older, who moved to the United States as first-generation immigrants. According to Sanou et al. (2014), recent immigrants are more likely to develop health-related issues, including the lack of a support system, change in diet, and decreased physical activities. I recruited participants through the social media site, Facebook, or from referrals. The survey asked participants to respond to a questionnaire that was designed to reveal whether psychological changes, such as stress and depression, as well as challenges of acculturation, are associated with overweight and obesity. To determine the sample size for this study, I conducted a statistical power analysis for an F test-ANOVA using a medium size effect (f2 = 0.15) with alpha level of 0.05 and power of 0.80 (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009). Using this power

analysis and following previous studies that examine related variables in Middle Eastern samples have used approximately 100 participants but were looking at fewer predictor variables in their analyses. For example, Khshaiboon (2013) examined the relationship of acculturation and depression using two factors: ethnic and dominant society immersion. Because I also plan to examine stress, in addition to depression and acculturation in the context of eating, I believe that a sample of approximately 150 participants would ensure this community sample had enough cases to conduct my planned analyses.

Procedures

I first obtained an approval from Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB). I have then created my survey using SurveyMonkey. I used Facebook to recruit adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States. If additional participants were required, I considered using Walden Participant Pool, and a handout survey to be given to a Middle Eastern group gathering for weekly events. Those who agreed to participate completed a set of questions to establish eligibility. Eligible candidates consented prior to beginning the questionnaire in order to participate in the study. I created a consent form to ensure that participants have a full understanding of the study and the reasons behind conducting this research.

Those identified as eligible to participate in this study and have read and agreed to the informed consent, had the opportunity to complete questionnaires that revealed the way they perceived their eating habits, including whether they believed there were both psychological and cultural reasons related to being overweight or obese. The survey contained the following measurements: Cohen's Perceived Stress questionnaire (Cohen et

al., 1983; see Appendix D), the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (Hamilton, 1960; see Appendix E), the Vancouver Index of Acculturation (Amer, 2005; see Appendix F), and the 25-item Emotional Eating Scale (Wilson et al., 2015; see Appendix G). I shared the survey as an invitation to participate in the study on Facebook. Once candidates contacted me, I obtained an informed consent and then sent participants a link to the survey. I also considered enlisting in the Walden Participant Pool to identify additional respondents, as those who have elected to be a part of this process are committed to supporting the research efforts of other Walden students. However, Facebook advertisement has helped recruit all the data needed for the study.

Participants answered the questionnaire using their cellphones or home computers. The consent form alerted participants to the study's minimal risks and to the questions that some participants may find uncomfortable. At the end of the questionnaire, all participants saw a thank you letter.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

I used five instruments in the study: (a) a short demographic questionnaire (see Appendix C), which included questions to describe the study; (b) Cohen's Perceived Stress Questionnaire (Cohen et al., 1983; see Appendix D); (c) the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (Hamilton, 1960; see Appendix E); (d) the Vancouver Index of Acculturation (Amer, 2005; see Appendix F); and (e) the 25-item Emotional Eating Scale (Wilson et al., 2015; see Appendix G). Completing all five questionnaires did not take longer than 30 minutes.

Demographics

The survey included questions regarding demographic information (see Appendix C) to ensure participants' eligibility. The survey included questions about gender, age, ethnicity, and whether they were born outside of the United States. Only adult women from any Arabic country in the Middle East who were not born in the United States were eligible for the survey. The invitation letter included the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The demographic information was another way, besides the invitation letter, to disqualify those who were not fit for the study.

Instrumentation

Cohen's Perceived Stress Questionnaire

Cohen's Perceived Stress Scale (PSS; Cohen et al., 1983; see Appendix D) is known widely to be used to measure the perception of stress and its impact on individuals. PSS examines how erratic and overburdened an individual's life is under stressful situations. Most of the questions in the PSS reveal the levels of stress the individual experienced in the previous month (Cohen et al., 1983). Maroufizadeh et al. (2018) believed that the questionnaire to be a reliable instrument that is used frequently across multiple cultures and populations to measure the levels of stress. Rizvi et al. (2015) used the 14-item PSS to determine the level of stress among undergraduate women in the University of Makkah, Saudi Arabia. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient reported by Rizvi et al. (2015) included 0.85 and a test-retest reliability also included 0.85 (Rizvi et al., 2015).

PSS is a 14-item, Likert-type questionnaire that uses a 5-point scale (0 = never, 1 = almost never, 2 = sometimes, 3 = fairly often, 4 = very often); (Cohen et al., 1983; see Appendix D). Examples for measuring the perception of stress are:

- In the last month, how often have you felt nervous and stressed?
- In the last month, how often have you found that you could not cope with all the things that you had to do?
- In the last month, how often have you been able to control irritations in your life?

The survey questions were a mix of positive and negative answers. If an item is true and was given a 4 (*very often*) by the participant, a total score of 4 was given to that one answer. Similarly, if an item is false and was answered with one correct answer (never), a total of 4 points was given for that answer. The questions will start to lose points if the response is given incorrectly. At the end of the questionnaires, the scores ranged from 0 to 56 (Rizvi et al., 2015). The answers were divided into two quartiles, labeled as stressed and not stressed individuals. Higher scores indicate higher levels of stress (Rizvi et al., 2015). The Cohen's Perceived Stress Questionnaire (Cohen et al., 1983; see Appendix D) is a public domain measure; no permission is needed to use this measure.

Hamilton Depression Rating Scale

The Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAM-D; Hamilton, 1960; see Appendix E) serves as the standard measure for depression. It examines the severity of depression among individuals (Hamilton, 1960). A study by Zeidan et al. (2019) discussed the

relationship between obesity, binge eating, and depression that occurs among Arab women more than men. Zeidan et al. (2019) also reported that eating disorders among those Arab individuals can be due to depression. The study by Zeidan et al. (2019) included the HAM-D, which has been valid and useful in many countries, including the Middle East. It has been translated into many different languages to be used worldwide. The HAM-D (Hamilton, 1960; see Appendix E) contains a 3–5-point scale in a total of 21 questions. Even though the depression scale is a set of 21 questions, the patient's score will be calculated on the first 17 questions. An example of the depression scale that is used to measure the severity of the condition include this mood evaluator:

- Depressed mood (0= Absent, 1=sadness, etc., 2=Occasional weeping, 3=Frequent weeping, 4= Extreme symptoms)
- Work and interests (0= No difficulty, 1= Feelings of incapacity, listlessness, indecision and vacillation, 2= Loss of interest in hobbies, decreased social activities, 3= productivity decreased, 4= unable to work, stopped working because of present illness only)

The scoring for this depression scale depends on the answers reported by the participants. For instance, scoring between 0 to 7 can be considered within the normal range for depression, whereas scoring over 20 is moderately severe depression (Hamilton, 1960).

Other studies also suggested that the HAM-D is a valid and reliable measure used to examine the levels of depression among individuals. Mutiso (2015) noted that the HAM-D reveals good internal reliability that ranges from .46 to .97. The most recent

mean alpha coefficient observed by Mutiso includes 0.789. The HAM-D demonstrates a high test-retest reliability, which indicates mean ratios that range from .81 to .98 and 0.87 to 0.94 (Mutiso, 2015). In contrast, the HAM-D inter-rater reliability test shows a coefficient of .79 and a kappa coefficient of 0.81(Mutiso, 2015). Zeidan et al. (2019) reported that the most recent HAM-D Cronbach's alpha coefficient is 0.879. Finally, the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (Hamilton, 1960; see Appendix E) is a public domain measure; no permission is needed to use this measure.

Acculturation Questionnaire

The Vancouver Index of Acculturation (VIA; Amer, 2005; see Appendix F) is used to measure the scale of acculturation among individuals (Amer, 2005). The VIA is designed to assess the components of culture that are considered important among ethnic individuals including traditions, family values, and behaviors. Naturally, adapting to a new environment can take time and sometimes individuals react in a certain way to cope with that change (Amer, 2005). The author, Amer (2005) measured acculturation among individuals and found that those with higher scores showed adaptation to the new environment and culture, those with lower scores demonstrated not being able to adapt to the new culture, and those who scored 50/50 showed biculturalism, a combination of both cultures. The VIA is a valid and useful questionnaire (see Appendix F) that was first used in the study by Amer (2005) to measure the level of acculturation among Arabs living in the United States.

The VIA-Modified Arab Version (see Appendix F) contains a 7-point scale that is listed as the following (1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = slightly disagree, 4 =

neutral/depends, 5 = slightly agree, 6 = agree, 7 = strongly agree; Amer, 2005; see

Appendix F). This set of questionnaires (see Appendix F) contains 20 questions. Ten of these questions are most specific to the individual's culture and heritage, and the other 10 assess the participant's adaptation to the American lifestyle and culture (Amer, 2005).

Examples of the acculturation questionnaire (see Appendix F) used by Amer (2005) include the following statements:

- I often participate in Arab cultural traditions
- I enjoy social activities with people of Arab ethnicity
- It is important for me to maintain or develop American cultural practices

A score of nine out of 10 in the first 10 questions is considered to be less acculturated to the host culture and more attached to the traditional culture. Similarly, I calculated the 10 American-based questions the same as the Arab heritage questions; however, the higher the score is, the more acculturated the individual is to the host country, including the United States (Amer, 2005).

The VIA-Arab version was first used in the Arab American study by Amer (2005). This questionnaire uses the term *heritage culture* to identify ethnic cultures or Arab culture. The VIA-Arab version questionnaire (see Appendix F) is within the public domain, and no permission is required to use this measure. Amer also discussed a study that was done in Ohio that included 76 Arab individuals living in the United States. The survey was distributed among churches and mosques, in areas where the Arab population normally gathers. Participants were adults with a mean age of 30. Arabs were found to have 42.1% Christians and 57.9% Muslims in total. Those participants were mostly from

Egypt, Lebanon, Palestine, or Syria. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient within the Arab subscale is found to be .80, whereas the American subscale is found to be .84.

Emotional Eating Scale

The Emotional Eating Scale (ESS; Wilson et al., 2015; see Appendix G) is used to examine whether there is a relationship between negative emotions and overeating. It was developed to measure the types of feelings that urge people to seek comfort in eating.

The ESS is a 25-item measure with three types of subscales including depression, anger, and anxiety. Participants were able to rate various types of emotions including:

- Sad
- Jittery Bored
- Upset

using a 5-point Likert scale (1 = no desire to eat, 2 = a small desire to eat, 3 = moderate desire to eat, 4 = a strong urge to eat, 5 = an overwhelming urge to eat; Wilson et al., 2015; see Appendix G). Individuals who score high using the ESS in each of the subscales will be considered to experience these issues; for example, a score of >25.4 will be considered high in the anger subscale, likewise, a score of >15.9 will be considered high in the anxiety subscale (Wilson et al., 2015).

Wilson et al. (2015) discussed a study that was done to examine the relationship between negative emotions and overeating. It weighed three negative emotions: anger, anxiety, and depression. The results of this study showed a mean for the anger subscale of 23.96, 15.19 for the anxiety subscale, and 12.00 for the depression subscale. The coefficient alpha, as noted by Wilson et al. (2015), is .81, which suggests good internal

consistency. The coefficient alphas for anger, anxiety, and depression are shown to be .78, .78, and .72. The test-retest reliability showed .79, which indicates acceptable temporal stability (Wilson et al., 2015). This 25-item questionnaire (Wilson et al., 2015; see appendix G) is a public domain measure; no permission is needed to use this measure.

Data Analysis

The study used the most current version of the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS 25), to analyze the data. Standard multiple regression analysis was calculated using the data obtained from the demographic questionnaires in the study; these statistics included means, standard deviation, and simple bivariate correlation coefficients. These determined whether the relationship between the variables in the study, including stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating was significant. I used the correlational model in this study to help gain a better understanding of the relationship between the psychological changes related to emotional eating among Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

In this study, I explored the relationship between stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating among Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Below are the research questions and hypotheses that were selected for this study:

Research Question 1 (RQ1): What is the relationship between stress and emotional eating, after controlling for depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States?

Null Hypothesis (H_01): There is no relationship between stress and emotional eating, after controlling for depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Alternative Hypothesis (H_a1): There is a relationship between stress and emotional eating, after controlling for depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Research Question 2 (RQ2): What is the relationship between depression and emotional eating, after controlling for stress, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States?

Null Hypothesis (H_02): There is no relationship between depression and emotional eating, after controlling for stress, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Alternative Hypothesis (H_a2): There is a relationship between depression and emotional eating, after controlling for stress, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Research Question 3 (RQ3): What is the relationship between acculturation and emotional eating, after controlling for stress and depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States?

Null Hypothesis (H_03): There is no relationship between acculturation and emotional eating, after controlling for stress and depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Alternative Hypothesis (H_a3): There is a relationship between acculturation and emotional eating, after controlling for stress and depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Threats to Validity

I used a quantitative survey design for this nonexperimental research. The participants of this research included women from any Arabic country in the Middle East who moved to the United States in recent years who are recruited through referrals or from social media. To interpret any data, a study generally depended on external and internal validity. External validity refers to applying a conclusion about the research study to the general population (Khorsan & Crawford, 2014). Threats to the data collected may have occurred when the results of the study are generalized. This sample consisted of women recruited from Facebook and referrals. Because of this, I made sure that I was cautious when interpreting the results of the research study. I utilized the demographics of the participants as qualitative data in my study.

Internal validity, on the other hand, refers to whether the study and the conclusion of the study are valid for the population being studied (Khorsan & Crawford, 2014). Threats to internal validity may have occurred if extraneous variables influenced the results and thus skew the data and negatively impact the outcome of the study. These variables were taken into account when analyzing the data. Because the study was collecting data using a correlational design, I have experienced some difficulty because I was not able to compare my data to a control group, which may have resulted in having a weak internal validity of the study.

Finally, construct validity refers to using the appropriate instruments to measure the data adequately (Strauss & Smith, 2009). To avoid errors and reduce subjectivity, construct validity is essential in research studies. To ensure construct validity, I made sure that all the instruments used in my study were approved and have been used in previous research studies.

García-Pérez (2012) noted a fourth aspect of the research validity, called Statistical Conclusion Validity (SCV). SCV refers to the degree to which the results of the relationship between the independent and the dependent variables are accepted as reasonable, as far as statistical issues. Threats to SCV may occur if the sample size is not sufficient and causes low statistical power, and thus an insignificant null hypothesis may occur. Risks to SCV may arise if the data do not meet the assumptions of the study. It is essential to ensure the use of adequate sampling tests and procedures to prevent threats of SCV from occurring (García-Pérez, 2012).

Ethical Issues

To ensure minimal ethical risks in my study, I first obtained an approval from the IRB before conducting my study. My research was voluntary, and participants were completely anonymous to ensure confidentiality. According to Chen (2019), using anonymity in research is associated with higher participation and interaction rates. It is also correlated with decreased anxiety among participants (Chen, 2019). The advertisement that was posted on Facebook explained the purpose of the research study, and the privacy of the research to protect the rights of all the participants of the study. By reading the consent form, participants knew that I am the only one who collected the data

and had access to these records. The consent form also described the procedures for completing the study, as well as the purpose of the research. Participants had no obligation to complete any part of this research if they felt uncomfortable. Participants were also advised if there were any risks with participating in the study, and they had all the freedom to withdraw from participating whenever they wanted without consequences.

For this study, the researcher used a computer that was protected by a safe passcode. No personal identification information was collected during this process, including Social Security numbers or addresses. At the same time, to protect the participant identity, all the data collected for this study was placed on the online website known as Survey Monkey; this site ensures participants' confidentiality due to its strict privacy policies (Survey Monkey, 2020). The data was not intended to be printed, but any data that was printed was kept in a secure area where no one else had access to it. The data will be destroyed five years after data collection, as required by the university.

Summary

The purpose of Chapter 3 was to discuss the research methodology that was used for this quantitative cross-sectional study. Research design and rationale, participants, procedures, instruments, research questions, data analysis, and ethical issues were described in this chapter. The purpose of this research study was to examine the relationship between stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating among Arabic Middle Eastern women who moved to the United States. Data was obtained from individuals who voluntarily participate in the study by agreeing to take a survey that is advertised through Facebook and referrals. To analyze the data, I used SPSS 25.

Participants of this study were informed that their information will not be shared and will be protected; a particular emphasis had been placed on the importance of this matter.

Chapter 4 provides the appropriate information in regard to the data collection, as well as the results of this study.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationships between stress, depression, and acculturation, and emotional eating among Arabic Middle Eastern women who moved to the United States. The study employed a quantitative approach to explore the relationship among the variables listed and investigate whether emotional eating mediates the relationship among these variables in this population. I also examined other potential factors that contribute to the increase in obesity and overweight weight among Arab women from the Middle East who moved to the United States. The research questions and hypotheses used in the study are repeated in this chapter to guide the analysis.

Data Collection and Management

Data collection began on November 8, 2020, ending on January 10, 2021. To begin the data collection, participants completed an online survey consisting of questions from four different psychological assessments. I utilized the questions from the Cohen's Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) to measure participants' perception of their experience of stress (Cohen et al., 1983). Following the PSS were the relevant questions from the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAM-D), which measured the level of depression experienced during the previous month (Hamilton, 1960). The third set of questions came from the Vancouver Index of Acculturation (VIA) (Amer, 2005). These questions assessed the components of culture considered important to participants' adaptation to a new cultural environment (Amer, 2005). I used his compilation of questions to assess the

predictive variables as one becomes acculturated to a new culture and potentially experiences an effect on their weight.

The participants then completed the relevant questions from the Emotional Eating Score (EES) that was designed to measure the relationship between emotions and eating, particularly negative emotions and overeating (Wilson et al., 2015). These questions were added at the end of the survey, culminating in 84 questions from the PSS, HAM-D, VIA, and EES, all related to the first three predictive variables – stress, depression, and acculturation – and to the outcome variable, emotional eating. The study survey was distributed through SurveyMonkey, a third-party internet vendor that markets surveys and questionnaires for target audiences. By completing the study survey, participants yielded scores on the three predictor variables: stress, depression, and acculturation, and the outcome variable: emotional eating. Below, I provided the research questions to help guide the development of the study and to ensure alignment with the research problem and purpose statement.

I used means, standard deviation, and simple bivariate correlation coefficients to determine whether the relationships between the variables were statistically significant. I also used standard multiple regression analysis to test for an association among stress, depression, and acculturation as predictor variables, whereas I used emotional eating as the outcome for the study. This chapter includes a summary of the data collection procedures, enhancement of the descriptions of data for analysis, and the results of the analysis. I included the research questions and hypotheses of the study in this chapter to guide the analysis. This chapter includes a summary of the data collection instrument and

procedures along with the process of preparing the data for analysis. Chapter 5 concludes with a discussion of the implications and applications of the data analysis.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research Question 1 (RQ1): What is the relationship between stress and emotional eating, after controlling for depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States?

Null Hypothesis (H_01): There is no relationship between stress and emotional eating, after controlling for depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Alternative Hypothesis (H_a1): There is a relationship between stress and emotional eating, after controlling for depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Research Question 2 (RQ2): What is the relationship between depression and emotional eating, after controlling for stress, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States?

Null Hypothesis (H_02): There is no relationship between depression and emotional eating, after controlling for stress, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Alternative Hypothesis (H_a2): There is a relationship between depression and emotional eating, after controlling for stress, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Research Question 3 (RQ3): What is the relationship between acculturation and emotional eating, after controlling for stress and depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States?

Null Hypothesis (H_03): There is no relationship between acculturation and emotional eating, after controlling for stress and depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Alternative Hypothesis (H_a 3): There is a relationship between acculturation and emotional eating, after controlling for stress and depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Focusing on the intent of the RQs in the study, I tested each hypothesis to discern its applicability to the RQ. I listed below the tests used in this study.

RO1

I conducted a bivariate correlation to examine the relationship between stress and emotional eating after controlling for depression, while I used standard multiple regression analysis to test the association between stress, as the predictor, and emotional eating, as the outcome. I measured stress by using the PSS.

RO₂

I conducted a bivariate correlation to evaluate the relationship between depression and emotional eating after controlling for stress, while I used standard multiple regression analysis to test the association between depression, as the predictor, and emotional eating, as the outcome. I used the HAM-D rating scale, a standard measure for depression, to

examine the severity of depression among Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

RQ3

I conducted a bivariate correlation to evaluate the relationship between acculturation and emotional eating after controlling for stress and depression, while I used standard multiple regression analysis to test the association between acculturation, as the predictor, and emotional eating, as the outcome. I used the VIA to measure the degree of acculturation each participant experienced.

Research Findings

I utilized the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS 25) for the statistical analysis of this data. Participant demographic information, such as age, gender, and ethnicity, was gathered and is shown in Table 1. Statistical tests included the Pearson correlation coefficients and linear regression analysis. The following subsections show the results of the relationships between the three predictor variables: stress, depression, and acculturation, and the outcome variable: emotional eating.

Participants

A group of 151 Arabic Middle Eastern women who had relocated to the United States comprised the sample for this study. Over 700 people responded to the recruitment efforts through social media, including Facebook. All the women were 18 years of agae and older, having relocated to the United States and a new culture. The criteria for participation were clearly noted in the Letter of Invitation (see Appendix A), posted through social media, including Facebook. All the women were invited to complete the

survey. Of the more than 700 people who showed an interest in the study, only 151 of these met the precise demographic criteria of the study, which was determined through the first four questions in the survey. I subsequently selected these 151 women as participants. The age of participants accepted in the study was limited to 18 years and older. All 151 respondents indicated that they were Arab women born outside of the United States.

The respondents who I ultimately selected to participate in the study, 151 women, completed the survey consisting of questions from the following scales, PSS, HAM-D, VIA, and EES, related to the first three predictive variables: stress, depression, and acculturation, and the outcome variable, emotional eating. The mean, standard score of stress included 27.85 with a standard deviation of 5.3 and a range of 39. The total score of depression was 12.18 with a standard deviation of 9.62 and a range of 41. At the same time, the mean, standard score of acculturation was 29.80 with a standard deviation of 13.54 and a range of 82. Finally, the mean, standard score of emotional eating was 32.11 with a standard deviation of 20.32 and a range of 93.

 Table 1

 Sociodemographic Characteristics of Participants

| Characteristic | | Frequency | Percentage | Cumulative |
|----------------|----------------|-----------|------------|------------|
| | | (n = 151) | % | % |
| Age-Group | 18 or Older | | 100.00 | 100.00 |
| Gender | Quest. Female | 151.00 | 100.00 | 100.00 |
| | Unspecific | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | Skipped Quest | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ethnicity | Arabic | 151.00 | 100.00 | 100.00 |
| | Persians | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | Kurdish | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | Azerbaijanis | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | Egyptians | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | Turks | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | Skipped Quest. | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Were You | Yes | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Born in the | No | 151.00 | 100 | 100.00 |
| United States? | Skipped Quest. | 0 | 0 | 0 |

 Table 2

 Coefficients of the Three Predictor Variables and the Outcome Variable

| | | VAR | VAR | VAR | VAR |
|---------------|-------------|--------|------------|---------------|------------------|
| | | Stress | Depression | Acculturation | Emotional |
| | | | | | Eating |
| VAR | Pearson | 1.0 | .486 | .020 | .107 |
| stress | Correlation | | | | |
| | Sig. (2- | | .000 | .810 | .190 |
| | tailed) | | | | |
| | | 151 | 151 | 151 | 151 |
| | n=151 | | | | |
| VAR | Pearson | .486 | 1 | .183 | .006 |
| Depression | Correlation | | | | |
| | Sig. (2- | .000 | | .024 | .938 |
| | tailed) | | | | |
| | | 151 | 151 | 151 | 151 |
| | n=151 | | | | |
| VAR | Pearson | .020 | .183 | 1 | 087 |
| Acculturation | Correlation | | | | |
| | Sig. (2- | .810 | .024 | | .290 |
| | tailed) | | | | |
| | | 151 | 151 | 151 | 151 |
| | n=151 | | | | |
| VAR | Pearson | .107 | .006 | 087 | 1 |
| Emotional | Correlation | | | | |
| Eating | Sig. (2- | .190 | .938 | .290 | |
| | tailed) | | | | |
| | | 151 | 151 | 151 | 151 |
| | n=151 | | | | |

The strongest correlation appeared to be stress and depression (r=.486, p<.001). This is based on N = 151 women and its 2-tailed significance, the p value is less than .05 (p=0.001), indicating results that were significant. Acculturation and depression are also significantly correlated, r=.183, p=.024, the p value that is less than 0.5 (p=.024), indicating results that the relationship between these two variables is significant.

RQ1: Stress and Emotional Eating

The first research question investigated whether there is a relationship between stress and emotional eating after controlling for depression. Table 3 includes the analysis of predictor variables stress and depression, versus the outcome variable emotional eating.

 Table 3

 Coefficients of Two Predictor Variables and the Outcome Variable

| Model | Unstandard ized B | Coefficients Std.Error | Standardiz ed Coefficient s Beta | t. | Sig. | Correlati ons Zero- order | Correlati ons Partial | Correlati ons Part |
|------------|-------------------------|---------------------------|--|-------|------|------------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------|
| (Constant) | 20.669 | 8.842 | | 2.338 | .021 | | | |
| Stress | .411 | .312 | .107 | 1.317 | .190 | .107 | .107 | .107 |
| (Constant) | 19.108 | 9.188 | | 2.080 | .039 | | | |
| Stress | .522 | .358 | .136 | 1.461 | .146 | .107 | .119 | .119 |
| Depression | 126 | .197 | 060 | 641 | .522 | .006 | 053 | 052 |

Note. Dependent Variable: Emotional Eating

Table 3 shows the statistical test that was conducted to examine the relationship between stress and emotional eating after controlling for depression among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States. A reverse scoring was conducted to this PSS before the data analysis began. The questions that needed reverse scoring included Questions 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, and 13; I found a total score afterward. I conducted a multiple linear regression analysis for emotional eating as the dependent factor, and stress and depression as the predictors. Stress (B = .522, SE = .358, β = .136, t = 1.461, p =

.146), and depression (B = -.126, SE = .197, β =-.060, t = -.641, p =.522) were not statistically significant in predicting emotional eating among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States. Similarly, R2 (0.012) for stress and R2 (0.014) for depression, indicating that neither stress nor depression were significantly associated with emotional eating. The null hypothesis was accepted.

RQ2: Depression and Emotional Eating

The second research question investigated whether there is a relationship between depression and emotional eating after controlling for stress. Table 4 includes the analysis of predictor variables, depression and stress, versus the outcome variable, emotional eating.

 Table 4

 Coefficients of Two Predictor Variables and the Outcome Variable

| Model | Unstandardized B | Coefficients Std.Error | Standardized Coefficients Beta | t. | Sig. | Correlations Zero-order | Correlations Partial | Correlations Part |
|------------|---------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------|--------|------|-------------------------|----------------------|-------------------|
| (Constant) | 31.948 | 2.683 | | 11.908 | .000 | | | |
| Depression | .013 | .173 | .006 | .078 | .938 | .006 | .006 | .006 |
| (Constant) | 19.108 | 9.188 | | 2.080 | .039 | | | |
| Depression | 126 | .197 | 060 | 641 | .522 | .006 | 053 | 052 |
| Stress | .522 | .358 | .136 | 1.461 | .146 | .107 | .119 | .119 |

Note. Dependent Variable: Emotional Eating

The next statistical test was conducted to examine the relationship between depression and emotional eating after controlling for stress among adult Arabic Middle

Eastern women living in the United States. A multiple linear regression analysis was conducted for emotional eating as the outcome variable, while depression and stress are the predictor variables. Depression (B = -.126, SE = .197, β =-.060, t = -.641, p = .522) was not statistically significant in predicting emotional eating among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States. Neither stress (B = .522, SE = .358, β =.136, t = 1.461, p = .146) nor depression were statistically significant in predicting emotional eating among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States. The analysis showing the relationship between depression and emotional eating if stress is controlled also showed R2 (0.000) for depression and R2 (0.014) for stress, indicating that neither depression nor stress were significantly associated with emotional eating. The null hypothesis was accepted.

RQ3: Acculturation and Emotional Eating

The third research question investigated whether there is a relationship between acculturation and emotional eating after controlling for stress and depression. Table 5 includes the analysis of predictor variables acculturation, stress, and depression versus the outcome variable emotional eating.

 Table 5

 Coefficients of Two Predictor Variables and the Outcome Variable

| Model | Unstandardized B | Coefficients Std.Error | Standardized Coefficients Beta | t. | Sig. | Correlations Zero-order | Correlations Partial | Correlations Part |
|-------------|---------------------|------------------------|----------------------------------|--------|------|-------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|
| (Constant) | 35.986 | 4.006 | | 8.982 | .000 | | | |
| Acculturati | 130 | .122 | 87 | -1.061 | .290 | 087 | 087 | 087 |
| on | | | | | | | | |
| (Constant) | 23.069 | 10.040 | | 2.298 | .023 | | | |
| Acculturati | 122 | .125 | 082 | 979 | .329 | 087 | 081 | 080 |
| on | | | | | | | | |
| Stress | .494 | .359 | .129 | 1.377 | .171 | .107 | .113 | .112 |
| Depression | 087 | .201 | 041 | 433 | .665 | .006 | 036 | 035 |

Note. Dependent Variable: Emotional Eating

The last statistical test examined the relationship between acculturation and emotional eating after controlling for stress and depression among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States. A multiple linear regression analysis was conducted for emotional eating as the outcome variable, while acculturation, stress and depression are the predictor variables. Acculturation (B = -.122, SE = .125, β =-.082, t = .979, p = .329) was not statistically significant in predicting emotional eating among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States. Both stress (B = .494, SE = .359, β = .129, t = 1.377, p = .171) and depression (B = -.087, SE = .201, β =-.041, t = -.433, p = .665) were not statistically significant in predicting emotional eating among

adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States. The analysis showing the relationship between acculturation and emotional eating if stress and depression are controlled also showed R2 (0.008) for acculturation and R2 (0.021) for acculturation, stress, and depression, indicating that neither acculturation, stress, nor depression were significantly associated with emotional eating. The null hypothesis was accepted.

Summary

Chapter 4 reviewed the results of the study. Analysis of the quantitative data led to answers for the three research questions. Each question pertained to the significance of the relationships between stress, depression, acculturation, and the outcome variable, emotional eating, among Arabic Middle Eastern women who moved to the United States.

The use of descriptive analysis and standard multiple regression answered the first research question. I calculated the regression using the data obtained from the inventories on stress and emotional eating after controlling for depression. The second research question involved the means and standard deviations displayed and simple bivariate correlation coefficients. These determined whether the relationship between the variables used in the study: stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating, were significant. In this study, I used the correlational model to help gain a clear understanding of the relationship between the psychological changes related to emotional eating among Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

The results of the first research question regarding the relationship between stress and emotional eating among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United

States indicate that null hypothesis is accepted, and the alternative hypothesis is rejected.

There is no significant relationship between stress and emotional eating.

As per the results of the second research question regarding the relationship between depression and emotional eating among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States, indicating that the null hypothesis is accepted, and the alternative hypothesis is rejected. There is no significant relationship between depression and emotional eating.

The results of the third research question regarding the relationship between acculturation and emotional eating among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States indicate the null hypothesis is accepted, and the alternative hypothesis is rejected. There is no significant relationship between acculturation and emotional eating.

In summary, each of the research questions presented in this paper aimed to test the significance between stress, depression, acculturation, and the outcome variable, emotional eating, among Arabic Middle Eastern women who moved to the United States. The p values generated throughout the data analysis indicated greater than 0.05, meaning that there was no significance between the psychological characteristics and emotional eating.

Chapter 5 contains further discussion on the study and interpretation of these results. Having arrived at the results of the analysis, the exploration of implications and applications of these results can proceed. Analysis of the quantitative data reviewed in this chapter answered the three research questions. The use of descriptive analysis and

standard multiple regression answered the first research question. I calculated the regression using the data obtained from the stress and emotional eating after controlling for depression. The second research question saw the means and the standard deviations displayed and simple bivariate correlation coefficients. These determined whether the relationship between the variables used in the study, including stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating, were significant. I used the correlational model in this study to help gain a better understanding of the relationship between the psychological changes related to emotional eating among Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

This chapter includes an interpretation of the research findings, limitations of the study, recommendations for future research, implications for social change, and the conclusions of this research study. I designed the present research study to expand the understanding of the correlation between psychological problems and emotional eating. The purpose of this research study was to examine the relationship among stress, depression, emotional eating, and weight gain in Middle Eastern women, specifically Arabs, who have moved to the United States. I explored the relationship among stress, depression, acculturation and investigated whether emotional eating mediates the relationship among these variables in this population.

Interpretation of Findings

Data collection took about 3 months to complete. I gathered data for the study through SurveyMonkey and analyzed it by using correlation and standard multiple regression analysis to test the study hypothesis. The targeted sample for the analysis was 150; a total of 151 participants completed the survey and 549 ultimately did not meet the criteria. Individuals who met the criteria for the survey have completed a set of 84 questions from the following scales, Cohen's Perceived Stress Scale (PSS), Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAM-D), Vancouver Index of Acculturation (VIA), and Emotional Eating Score (EES), related to the first three predictive variables: stress, depression, and acculturation, and the outcome variable, emotional eating.

The correlation matrix revealed nonsignificant relationships between stress, depression, acculturation, and weight gain in Middle Eastern women, specifically Arabs, who have moved to the United States. With these results, the null hypotheses for the current study were not rejected; however, further interpretation of the findings are discussed in the following sections.

RQ1: Stress and Emotional Eating

The purpose of this research question was to find whether there is a relationship between stress and emotional eating, after controlling for depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women living in the United States. Prior research also indicated that women with high-stress levels are more likely to hold unhealthy attitudes toward expressing their negative feelings than men (Meyer et al., 2010). The finding of this study appears to be inconsistent with the past studies that displayed that women with high levels of stress may try to handle their emotions by adapting to unhealthy eating habits (Meyer et al., 2010). As these scholars demonstrated, stress is consistent with reduced energy, appetite change, and lack of socialization, decreasing the individual's quality of life. Women with high-stress levels are at risk of developing obesity due to overeating to cope with stressful events (Besse et al., 2018; Razzoli et al., 2017).

Although this study's hypothesis was not significant, considering the amount of past studies supporting the relationship between stress and overeating, many women would need to consult their healthcare professionals for many reasons related to their stress or overweight and obesity. This could support these women in their efforts to avoid developing diabetes mellitus Type II and heart diseases related to obesity. It can also

reduce the psychological changes and prevent them from worsening. Alalwan et al. (2019) reported that a simple increase in stress levels could lead to overeating among women. Therefore, it is essential to advise a healthy relationship between women, specifically Arabic Middle Eastern, and their doctors to help reduce stress and prevent unhealthy behaviors.

High levels of stress among women are highly associated with unhealthy attitudes toward food to express their negative feelings (Meyer et al., 2010). There is also a possibility that patients were not provided enough knowledge to understand the effect of stress on our overall health and wellbeing. Regardless of how often women visit their healthcare providers about overweight and obesity, if they are not educated about possible stressors that may cause them to overeat, they would continue to suffer from the issue. Some women choose to self-silence themselves when they undergo life stressors, which leads to unhealthy eating habits in the future (Shouse & Nilson, 2011). Healthcare professionals must discuss this particular relationship between stress and emotional eating among their patients because it can help many women make the connection and thus seek help to reduce its effects.

Educating patients using evidence-based tools can reduce their stress and increase the likelihood of pursuing healthy activities (Feltrin et al., 2019). For example, the authors, Feltrin et al. (2019), reported that social interaction might help women who seem to be prompted to attempt risky behaviors such as overeating, smoking, or using drugs caused by stress. Thus, using tools such as conversion, handouts, or brochures can help inform patients regarding the effects of stress. This can create a possibility for the patient

to ask questions to help them decrease the stressful feelings and choose behaviors that cause more good than harm.

Regardless of the results of this study, existing studies have proven the importance of past traumas and their effect on the individual (Levoy et al., 2017). Women with a history of trauma may react differently to stressors. Shouse and Nilson (2011) indicated that those women are more likely to undergo risky health behaviors. There is a possibility that Arabic Middle Eastern women who have a history of trauma experience stress when moving to the United States. These women may find overeating rewarding to vent their emotions. This study educ ates those suffering from stress and medical professionals who treat this particular population when moving to the United States.

RQ2: Depression and Emotional Eating

The purpose of the second question was to determine whether there is a relationship between depression and emotional eating, after controlling for stress, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women who moved to the United States. Maji (2018) reported that depression is more prevalent in women than men, and Le et al. (2013) acknowledged that depression occurs in one out of every five women. Previous research also reported that depressed women are more prone to obesity than others (Konttinen et al., 2019). Depression and high levels of stress are positively correlated; therefore, individuals may seek comfort through a necessary and acceptable activity such as eating (Garcia et al., 2018). This study found no statistical significance in the relationship between depression and emotional eating among this specific population. This finding is

surprising as well, as Middle Eastern women, specifically, may be prone to experiencing stigma when traveling outside of their countries, so moving to the United States may cause these women to undergo mental changes such as stress or depression (Al Wekhian, 2015). Based on these findings, it would be logical to assume that Middle Eastern women who experience mental changes such as depression would also experience overeating caused by their emotions. The results, however, did show that there is a correlation among the psychological illness among this particular population.

This present study showed nonsignificant results between emotional eating and depression. Yet, this study is significant to Middle Eastern women because it can help them understand this disease. Maji (2013) reported that depression is developed into several categories that describe the severity of depression. Each category is approached with a different treatment. The categories are classified depending on the condition's cognitive or behavioral processes. It is possible that Middle Eastern women may have symptoms of sadness, depressed moods, and/or occasional crying, which they may think is normal behavior. This type of behavior, if not well managed, may develop into a severe case of depression. Therefore, it is vital that Middle Eastern women who recently moved to the United States be advised of these symptoms that may come and go and see a professional to have it managed.

Regardless of the results of this study, medical professionals must educate Middle Eastern women, especially those who recently moved to the United States, about depression. Goodwin (2006) and Le et al. (2003) reported the leading health indicators of depression, including stroke, heart disease, fibromyalgia, and chronic pain. Their study

also indicated that these diseases occur among depressed women more than men. It is essential to highlight the importance and severity of depression when visiting any doctor. Medical professionals may use iPads or a piece of paper to give to each of their patients when waiting to be seen. The information on this device or form can include a depression scale and whether the patient is complaining of any. This can give the doctor an idea of how each patient feels and remind the patient of these symptoms to speak to the doctor about them.

Educating individuals about depression before it accelerates is important to reduce the liklihood of risky behaviors. In 2019, Zhang et al. reported that depression was ranked as the second cause of disease that contributes to suicide attempts among people. Depression is an illness that is able to control the individual's physical and mental health. It leads to chronic diseases that affect the individual's quality of life. Symptoms of depression can start by finding comfort in unhealthy activities such as drinking, smoking, or overeating. This study by Zhang et al. (2019) showed a nonsignificant relationship between depression and overeating among Middle Eastern women; however, further research into this topic is highly advised. Though, women need to be warned about the symptoms of depression and its effects in the long run. The immigration service may include some brochures about depression when speaking to the immigrated families to educate them further about the topic. Medical professionals seeing these immigrated women for the first time can also discuss this particular topic with them. This can help decrease the disease from spreading and help better manage the symptoms.

RQ3: Acculturation and Emotional Eating

The purpose of this final research question was to determine whether there is a relationship between acculturation and emotional eating, after controlling for stress and depression, among adult Arabic Middle Eastern women who moved to the United States. Alidu and Grunfeld (2018) found that many women who move to the United States gained unhealthy weight because of the stress and the anxiety of moving to a different culture with expectations that were different from their former country. Al-Dosari (2019) also suggested that immigrating to a different country can increase the likelihood of developing mental illness, such as stress and depression. It is also suggested that Middle Eastern women may suffer from overeating when they move to the United States due to many reasons, including: having difficulty adjusting to a new culture, loneliness, loss of participation in activities and culture (Al-Dosari, 2019). The findings of the present study do not match the literature and would normally be difficult to explain; however, the study showed that the relationship between acculturation and depression was statistically significant. This suggests that Arabic Middle Eastern women who move to the United States may develop psychological changes including depression. Yet, no significant results were shown to relate acculturation to emotional eating, and this may also be due to the population that participated in this study was small, which determined such results.

Even though this study suggested a nonsignificant relationship between acculturation and emotional eating among women from the Middle East who immigrated to the United States; but, learning about the effects of a new culture on women, specifically, is vital. Al Wekhian (2015) reported the difficulty of moving to the United

States for Middle Eastern women because of the drastic changes they may experience when they move to a different country. Moving to the United States can have an overall impact on their lifestyle, dietary practices, and social life. These women may undergo psychological disturbances to those changes, and Doumit et al. (2016) noted that women who undergo emotional changes might find comfort in food, leading to weight gain. The lack of educational information about the effects of acculturation might enable these women to change their unhealthy eating habits and seek other outlets to decrease their stress.

Regardless of the findings of this particular research question, educational programs need to be created that can guide women who move from a different culture to the United States. These programs can help these women with the challenges that they may have when first moving to the United States. Koneru et al. (2007) reported that signs of anxiety, depression, and stress are highly associated with low acculturation among women. Therefore, these programs can also help women overcome depression, reduce stress, and manage weight. Medical professionals can initiate the subject of acculturation by asking those women how they are adjusting so far and whether they have any issues. These health professionals can suggest these programs for these women to participate and benefit from to avoid following unhealthy behaviors in the future.

Further research showed that other cultures have found a relationship between psychological illness and being less acculturated when moving to the United States.

Latina women who moved to the United States are said to be more susceptible to unhealthy eating behaviors. They become depressed when they move out of their

hometowns and thus find comfort in eating (Cordero & Gutierrez, 2016). Regardless of the results of the present study, the relationship between acculturation and emotional eating have been shown to be significant among other cultures and therefore, it is essential to focus on spreading the awareness of mental changes among the Middle Eastern women who move to the United States. These women might be in need to speak to a therapist or medical professionals about their feelings about moving to a new country. Middle Eastern women may not ask about a referral to a psychologist or even discuss mental health because they may be culturally discouraged from seeking psychological help in the first place (Dardas & Simmons, 2015). Accordingly, medical professionals must be able to educate these women, and offer psychological services that can help reduce their stress and adjust to life in a new country.

Post Hoc Analyses

Previous research such as the one by Corazon, et al. (2018) revealed that stress is associated with many diseases and other psychological illnesses, including depression. The correlations matrix for this study showed that the strongest correlation appeared to be stress and depression (r=.486, p<.001). This is based on N = 151 women and its 2-tailed significance, the p value is less than .05 (p=0.001), indicating results that were significant. Other research, including the one by Cordero and Gutierrez (2016) reported that Latina women who moved to the United States were more likely to develop mental changes such as anxiety and depression. This present study also showed that acculturation and depression are significantly correlated, r=.183, p=.024, the p value that

is less than 0.5 (p=.024), indicating results that the relationship between these two variables is significant.

Limitations of the Study

The first limitation was that the data collection process occurred during the COVID-19 global pandemic. According to Gomathy and V. (2021), this pandemic not only affected the health and lifestyle of individuals but also impacted the population's mental health. Therefore, there is a possibility that female participants who took the survey may be feeling a great deal of worry and concern about COVID-19 that might potentially impact the results found.

Another limitation of the study was recruiting participants using social media, which may not be entirely reliable. Furthermore, using information from platforms, like Facebook, to collect data may have the potential to return inaccurate information. Koo and Skinner (2005) reported that recruiting most participants from an online source might also limit the generalizability of the study results. The study was seeking to recruit Arab female participants who have moved to the United States from a Middle Eastern country, and if respondents included those who do not reflect the criteria, the results may not be entirely accurate. Therefore, women who do not meet the inclusion criteria mentioned in the beginning of the survey, were not able to participate in the study.

Moreover, it is possible that this finding would have been obtained at normal times, but it is also possible that the population that participated in this study was small, which determined such results. Research by Konttinen et al. (2019) argued that women are more likely to overeat in response to stressful situations, such as immigrating and

leaving their homes to move to a new country, had a sample size of 10,000 participants. Thus, the number of participants may have affected the results of this study. Other research, including Button et al. (2013), reported that the size of the data sample could reduce the likelihood of the results being statistically significant. There were 700 individuals who took the survey, but only 151 women fit the criteria. The sample size might not be representative of the target group.

Another limitation may have been that the individuals who participated in the study have been living in the United States for a longer period of time. The survey did not indicate a specific time frame for participants to be living in the United States after moving from the Middle East Therefore, those participants may have had the time to adjust to the new environment and the new culture compared to when they first moved. Consequently, they might have forgot how they felt when they moved to the country.

Recommendations

In this quantitative non-experimental study, I generated the results regarding the relationship between stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating among Arab Middle Eastern women who moved to the United States. Several interpretations of the findings were proposed. This study showed a significant relationship between stress and depression and between acculturation and depression; however, it did not establish any significant relationship between stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating. That being said, the study does not dismiss that there is a relationship between those psychological changes, acculturation, and emotional eating among this particular population. It simply implies the need for other measures to investigate the stated

limitations above and determine why the relationship between stress and emotional eating, depression and emotional eating, and acculturation and emotional eating were not statistically significant.

Based on the current body of literature, individuals who immigrate, leave their homes, and move to a new country, where they may lack their traditions, culture, or social support, may develop psychological changes, such as stress and depression (Li et al., 2014). Those individuals are more likely to overeat, even if they are not hungry and do not have the desire to eat (Emerson et al., 2016). Therefore, it is essential to explore this research topic further. Utilizing a different research method and having a larger sample size is also recommended to determine if there would be any changes from the results shown in this study.

Identifying specific stressors, including lack of social support among Arab Middle Eastern women who moved to the United States in comparison to their social life back in their home countries. Abdul et al. (2019) discussed that women in the Middle East are more likely to develop psychological changes when they move to a foreign country where they are in an unfamiliar setting without the family and the friends of their home country to be around. For that reason, it is crucial to include the need for social interaction and support as one of the stressors when measuring the relationship between acculturation and emotional eating among Arabic Middle Eastern women who moved to the United States.

In order to explore the present study further, qualitative measures could also be utilized. Arabic Middle Eastern women could be interviewed to talk about their situation

when they first moved to the United States from their home country. They could also discuss the psychological changes they are exploring when moving to a new country and whether these emotions are causing them to gain weight. They could also provide suggestions on how healthcare providers can help them reduce these psychological changes and manage their weight. On the other hand, healthcare professionals could also provide in-depth information to help Arabic Middle Eastern women identify factors that may contribute to their overeating and subsequent weight gain.

Implications

It is known that Arab Middle Eastern women are more likely to develop diseases such as diabetes mellitus Type II due to obesity (Al-Raifai, & Aziz, 2018). To compound the difficulty, many Middle Eastern women are reluctant to seek professional help if they believe the cause may be from an illness with a psychological cause because of the stigma of seeking help for a condition that may be perceived as a personal weakness. Thus, these women who do not seek help may experience negative health-related outcomes including overeating (Dardas & Simmons, 2015). Therefore, the results of this study can help provide further insights into factors that may contribute to increasing obesity, including acculturation among Arabic Middle Eastern women.

Literature has found that Middle Eastern parents, women more than men, are more likely to be less acculturated when moving to the United Stated. They are more prone to undergoing high levels of stress and depression when moving to a different country which may be caused by the language barriers, fear of racism, culture shock, and many more (Dardas & Simmons, 2015; Semaan, 2016). The results of this study also

revealed that there is a significant relationship between depression and acculturation among Arabic Middle Eastern women who moved to the United States. By relating the psychological changes to low acculturation among those women, researchers and medical professionals will have the opportunity to determine effective means to help women overcome depression, reduce stress, and manage their weight.

The results of this study may contribute to positive social change by expanding on more research conducted on Arab Middle Eastern women who are living in the United States during COVID-19 global pandemic. According to Abuelezam (2020), Arab individuals who are living in the United States may be at increased risk of developing symptoms, infection, complications, or even death from COVID-19 due to a number of reasons, including psychological changes, stigma, lack of social support, and inadequate prevention measures. Similarly, some health factors of COVID-19 include diabetes mellitus Type II and heart disease. Middle Eastern women are found to have a more significant number of diabetic cases than the white population living in the United States (Al-Raifai, & Aziz, 2018; Abuelezam, 2020). Consequently, it is crucial to expand on this topic with its association with COVID-19 among Arab Middle Eastern women in the future. The future study can be shared with medical health professionals who can help implement strategies to provide the proper care and social support to those affected by the pandemic.

Conclusions

In this research study, I examined the following hypotheses: whether stress and emotional eating are correlated, after controlling for depression; whether depression and

emotional eating are correlated, after controlling for stress; and whether acculturation and emotional eating are correlated, after controlling for stress and depression. According to the results, the relationship between stress and emotional eating, after controlling for depression was not statistically significant. The correlation between depression and emotional eating, after controlling for stress, was also not statistically significant. Finally, the relationship between acculturation and emotional eating was not statistically significant in this study. However, a statistically significant and positive relationship between stress and depression was found. Similarly, another significant correlation was also found between acculturation and depression, which was consistent with previous research studies (Alidu & Grunfeld 2018; Cordero & Gutierrez, 2016; Cachelin, 2006; D'Alonzo et al. 2019; & Reyes-Rodríguez et al., 2016). Further recommendation is advised to help expand the research study by utilizing a different research method, having a larger sample size, and specifying the topic even further by including lack of social support to investigate whether narrowing the topic will change the significance of the results. The results of this study may contribute to social change by helping researchers and medical professionals find other factors that may contribute to increasing obesity among Arabic Middle Eastern women. The correlation findings between stress and depression, and between depression and acculturation reveal the importance of focusing on the relationship between psychological illness and acculturation among this population, which may help provide further insights that can better their quality of life.

References

- Abalkhail, J. M., & Allan, B. (2016). "Wasta" and women's careers in the Arab Gulf States. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, 31(3), 162–180. https://doi.org/10.1108/GM-02-2015-0006
- Abdelaal, M., le Roux, C. W., & Docherty, N. G. (2017). Morbidity and mortality associated with obesity. *Annals of Translational Medicine*, *5*(7), 161. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2017.03.107
- Abuelezam N. N. (2020). Health equity during COVID-19: The case of Arab Americans.

 *American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 59(3), 455–457.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2020.06.004
- Adams, R. E., & Boscarino, J. A. (2013). Differences in mental health outcomes by acculturation status following a major urban disaster. *International Journal of Emergency Mental Health*, *15*(2), 85–96.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4007276/
- Alalwan, T. A., Hilal, S. J., Mahdi, A. M., Ahmed, M. A., & Mandeel, Q. A. (2019). Emotional eating behavior among University of Bahrain students: a cross-sectional study. *Arab Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*, *26*(1), 424–432. https://doi.org/10.1080/25765299.2019.1655836
- Albert, P. R. (2015). Why is depression more prevalent in women? *Journal of Psychiatry* & *Neuroscience*, 40(4), 219–221. https://doi.org/10.1503/jpn.150205
- Al-Disi, D., Al-Daghri, N., Khan, N., Alfadda, A., Sallam, R., Alsaif, M. . . . McTernan, P. (2015). Postprandial effect of a high-fat meal on endotoxemia in Arab women

- with and without insulin-resistance-related diseases. *Nutrients*, 7(8), 6375–6389. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu7085290
- Al-Dosari, H. (2019). Saudi Arabia must dismantle the male guardianship system. www.Washingtonpost.com
- Al-Ghamdi, S., Shubair, M. M., Aldiab, A., Al-Zahrani, J. M., Aldossari, K. K., Househ, M., . . . El-Metwally, A. (2018). Prevalence of overweight and obesity based on the body mass index: A cross-sectional study in Alkharj, Saudi Arabia. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, 17, 134. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12944-018-0778-5
- Alidu, L., & Grunfeld, E. A. (2018). A systematic review of acculturation, obesity and health behaviours among migrants to high-income countries. *Psychology & Health*, *33*(6), 724–745. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2017.1398327
- Amer, M. M. (2005). Arab American mental health in the post September 11 era:

 Acculturation, stress, and coping. (Doctoral dissertation). University of Toledo.

 Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering,
 66(4-B).
 - https://etd.ohiolink.edu/pg_10?0::NO:10:P10_ACCESSION_NUM:toledo111539 5141
- ALNohair, S. (2014). Obesity in Gulf countries. *International Journal of Health Sciences*, 8(1), 79–83. https://doi.org/10.12816/0006074
- Al-Raifai, R. H., & Aziz, F. (2018). Prevalence of Type 2 diabetes, prediabetes, and gestational diabetes mellitus in women of childbearing age in the Middle East and

- North Africa, 2000-2017: Protocol for two systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Systematic Reviews*, 7, 96. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-018-0763-0
- Al-Thani, M. A., & Khaled, S. M. (2018). "Toxic pleasures": A study of eating out behavior in Arab female university students and its associations with psychological distress and disordered eating. *Eating Behaviors*, *31*, 125–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2018.08.008
- Al Wekhian, J. (2015). Acculturation process of Arab-Muslim immigrants in the United States. *Asian Culture and History*, 8(1), 89–99. https://doi.org/10.5539/ach.v8n1p89
- Alzaman, N., & Ali, A. (2016). Obesity and diabetes mellitus in the Arab world. *Journal of Taibah University Medical Sciences*, 11(4), 301–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtumed.2016.03.009
- Annesi, J. J. (2019). Relationship of emotional eating and mood changes through self-regulation within three behavioral treatments for obesity. *Psychological Reports*, 122(5), 1689–1706. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294118795883
- Belvederi Murri, M., Ekkekakis, P., Magagnoli, M., Zampogna, D., Cattedra, S., Capobianco, L., . . . Amore, M. (2019). Physical exercise in major depression: Reducing the mortality gap while improving clinical outcomes. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *9*, 762. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00762
- Besse, C., Poremski, D., Laliberté, V., & Latimer, E. (2018). The meaning and experience of stress among supported employment clients with mental health

- problems. Health & Social Care in the Community, 26(3), 383–392. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12527
- Bourdier, L., Morvan, Y., Kotbagi, G., Kern, L., Romo, L., & Berthoz, S. (2018).

 Examination of emotion-induced changes in eating: A latent profile analysis of the Emotional Appetite Questionnaire. Appetite, 123, 72-81.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.11.108
- Braden, A., Musher-Eizenman, D., Watford, T., & Emley, E. (2018). Eating when depressed, anxious, bored, or happy: Are emotional eating types associated with unique psychological and physical health correlates? Appetite, 410–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2018.02.022
- Butler G. (1993). Definitions of stress. Occasional paper (Royal College of General Practitioners), 61, 1–5. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2560943/
- Button, K., loannidis, J., Mokrysz, C. et al. (2013). Power failure: why small sample size undermines the reliability of neuroscience. Nat Rev Neurosci, 14, 365-376. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3475
- Cachelin, F. M., Monreal, T. K., & Juarez, L. C. (2006). Body image and size perceptions of Mexican American women. Body Image, 3(1), 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2005.10.006
- Carpena, M. X., Dumith, S. C., de Mola, C. L., & Neiva-Silva, L. (2019).

 Sociodemographic, behavioral, and health-related risk factors for depression among men and women in a southern Brazilian city. Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria, 41(5), 396–402. https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-4446-2018-0135

- Carriere, C., Michel, G., Féart, C., Pellay, H., Onorato, O., Barat, P., & Thibault, H. (2019). Relationships between emotional disorders, personality dimensions, and binge eating disorder in French obese adolescents. Archives de Pédiatrie, 26(3), 138–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcped.2019.02.008
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Division of Nutrition, Physical

 Activity, and Obesity, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health

 Promotion (2019). https://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dnpao/index.html
- Chen, C. (2019). Using anonymity in online interactive EFL learning: International students' perceptions and practices. International Journal of Education and Development Using Information and Communication Technology, 15(1). https://www.learntechlib.org/p/209745/
- Chivese, T., Mahmoud, W., Magodoro, I., Kengne, A. P., Norris, S. A., & Levitt, N. S. (2016). Prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus in women of childbearing age in Africa during 2000-2016: Protocol of a systematic review and meta-analysis.

 BMJ Open, 6(12), e012255. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012255
- Claudat, K., White, E. K., & Warren, C. S. (2016). Acculturative stress, self-esteem, and eating pathology in Latina and Asian American female college students. Journal of Clinical Psychology, 72(1), 88–100. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22234
- Cohen, S., Karamack, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24(4), 385-396. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136404

- Corazon, S. S., Nyed, P. K., Sidenius, U., Poulsen, D. V., & Stigsdotter, U. K. (2018). A long-term follow-up of the efficacy of nature-based therapy for adults suffering from stress-related illnesses on levels of healthcare consumption and sick-leave absence: A randomized controlled trial. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 15(1), 137. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15010137
- Cordero, E. D., & Gutierrez, A. (2016). Weight-related eating among less-acculturated

 Latina college students. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 18(5), 1032–

 1037. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0387-1
- Costanzo, P., & Musante, G. (1996). Study finds men and women overeat for different reasons. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 96(12), 1253. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-8223(96)00328-8
- Cotter, E. W., & Kelly, N. R. (2018). Stress-related eating, mindfulness, and obesity. Health Psychology, 37(6), 516–525. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000614
- D'Alonzo, K. T., Munet-Vilaro, F., Carmody, D. P., Guarnaccia, P. J., Linn, A. M., & Garsman, L. (2019). Acculturation stress and allostatic load among Mexican immigrant women. Revista Latino-Americana de Enfermagem, 27, 1–11.
 https://doi.org/10.1590/1518-8345.2578.3135
- Dalton, E. D., & Hammen, C. L. (2018). Independent and relative effects of stress, depressive symptoms, and affect on college students' daily health behaviors.

 Journal of Behavioral Medicine, 41(6), 863–874. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-018-9945-4

- Dardas, L. A., Silva, S. G., Scott, J., Gondwe, K. W., Smoski, M. J., Noonan, D., & Simmons, L. A. (2018). Do beliefs about depression etiologies influence the type and severity of depression stigma? The case of Arab adolescents. Perspectives in Psychiatric Care, 54(4), 547–556. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppc.12270
- Dardas, L. A., & Simmons, L. A. (2015). The stigma of mental illness in Arab families:

 A concept analysis. Journal of Psychiatric & Mental Health Nursing, 22(9), 668-679. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpm.12237
- De Oliveira, G., Cianelli, R., Gattamorta, K., Kowalski, N., & Peragallo, N. (2017).

 Social determinants of depression among Hispanic women. Journal of the

 American Psychiatric Nurses Association, 23(1), 28–36.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1078390316669230
- Dhivyadharshini, J., Priya, A. J., & Gayathridevi, R. (2019). Stress-related eating behavior in adults with obesity. Drug Invention Today, 12(5), 926–928.

 https://search-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=136927771&s
 ite=eds-live&scope=site.
- Djalalinia, S., Qorbani, M., Peykari, N., & Kelishadi, R. (2015). Health impacts of obesity. Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences, 31(1), 239–242. https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.311.7033
- Donnelly, T. T., Al-Thani, A., Benjamin, K., Al-Khater, A. H., Fung, T. S., Ahmedna, M., & Welch, A. (2018). Arab female and male perceptions of factors facilitating and inhibiting their physical activity: Findings from a qualitative study in the

Middle East. PloS One, 13(7), e0199336.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0199336

- Doumit, R., Zeeni, N., Sanchez Ruiz, M. J., & Khazen, G. (2016). Anxiety as a moderator of the relationship between body image and restrained eating. Perspectives in Psychiatric Care, 52(4), 254-264. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppc.12126
- Duarte, C., Pinto-Gouveia, J., & Ferreira, C. (2015). Expanding binge-eating assessment:

 Validity and screening value of the Binge Eating Scale in women from the general population. Eating Behaviors, 18, 41-47.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2015.03.007
- Emerson, J. A., Hurley, K. M., Caulfield, L. E., & Black, M. M. (2016). Maternal mental health symptoms are positively related to emotional and restrained eating attitudes in a statewide sample of mothers participating in a supplemental nutrition program for women, infants and young children. Maternal and Child Nutrition, 13(1). https://doi.org./10.1111/mcn.12247
- Erten, E. Y., Den Berg, P. V., & Weissing, F., J. (2018). Acculturation orientations affect the evolution of a multicultural society. Nature Communications, 9, 58. https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-017-02513-0
- Farrag, N. S., Cheskin, L. J., & Farag, M. K. (2017). A systematic review of childhood obesity in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region: Health impact and management. Advances in Pediatric Research, 4, 6.

https://doi.org/10.12715/apr.2017.4.6

- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. Behavior Research Methods, 41, 1149-1160. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Feltrin, F., Andreani Cabral, L. P., Bordin, D., & Berger Fadel, C. (2019). Impact of stress on the quality of life and health conducts of multiprofessional residents.

 Revista de Gestão Em Sistemas de Saúde, 8(3), 395–404.

 https://doi.org/10.5585/RGSS.v8i3.14928
- Finch, L. E., & Tomiyama, A. J. (2015). Comfort eating, psychological stress, and depressive symptoms in young adult women. Appetite, 95, 239–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2015.07.017
- Flannelly, K. J., Flannelly, L. T., & Jankowski, K. R. B. (2018). Threats to the internal validity of experimental and quasi-experimental research in healthcare. Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy, 24(3), 107–130.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08854726.2017.1421019
- Frayn, M., Livshits, S., & Knäuper, B. (2018). Emotional eating and weight regulation: A qualitative study of compensatory behaviors and concerns. Journal of Eating Disorders, 6(23). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-018-0210-6
- Fried, E., & Nesse, R. (2014). The impact of individual depressive symptoms on impairment of psychosocial functioning. PLoS ONE, 9(2), e90311. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090311
- Garawi, F., Devries, K., Thorogood, N., & Uauy, R. (2014). Global differences between women and men in the prevalence of obesity: Is there an association with gender

- inequality? European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 68(10), 1101–1106. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2014.86
- Garcia, G. D., Pompeo, D. A., Eid, L. P., Cesarino, C. B., Pinto, M. H., & Gonçalves, L. (2018). Relationship between anxiety, depressive symptoms and compulsive overeating disorder in patients with cardiovascular diseases. Revista Latino-Americana de Enfermagem, 26, e3040. https://doi.org/10.1590/1518-8345.2567.3040
- García-Pérez M. A. (2012). Statistical conclusion validity: some common threats and simple remedies. Frontiers in Psychology, 3, 325. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00325
- Goldschmidt A. B. (2017). Are loss of control while eating and overeating valid constructs? A critical review of the literature. Obesity Reviews: An Official Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity, 18(4), 412–449. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12491
- Goodwin G. M. (2006). Depression and associated physical diseases and symptoms.

 Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience, 8(2), 259–265.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3181771/
- Gomathy, D., & V., S. (2021). Covid-19 and Its Impact on Mental Health of Marine

 Engineering Cadets: An Empirical Study. Ilkogretim Online, 20(4), 1486-1492.

 https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.04.171

- Gouda, J., & Prusty, R. K. (2014). Overweight and obesity among women by economic stratum in urban India. Journal of Health, Population, and Nutrition, 32(1), 79–88. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4089075/
- Hamilton M. (1960). A rating scale for depression. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery,

 & Psychiatry, 23, 56-62.

 https://europepmc.org/backend/ptpmcrender.fcgi?accid=PMC495331&blobtype=pdf
- Hruby, A., & Hu, F. B. (2015). The epidemiology of obesity: A big picture.

 PharmacoEconomics, 33, 673-689. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40273-014-0243-x
- Jones, J., Kauffman, B. Y., Rosenfield, D., Smits, J. A. J., & Zvolensky, M. J. (2019).

 Emotion dysregulation and body mass index: The explanatory role of emotional eating among adult smokers. Eating Behaviors, 33, 97-101.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2019.05.003
- Kaiser K. (2009). Protecting respondent confidentiality in qualitative research.

 Qualitative Health Research, 19(11), 1632–1641.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732309350879
- Kanter, R., & Caballero, B. (2012). Global gender disparities in obesity: A review.

 Advances in Nutrition, 3(4), 491–498. https://doi.org/10.3945/an.112.002063
- Khorsan, R. & Crawford, C. (2014). External validity and model validity: A conceptual approach for systematic review methodology. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 2014, 694804. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/694804

- Khshaiboon, S. (2013). The relationship between acculturation and depression among first generation Christian Arab American adults. Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses (ETDs). 2001. https://scholarship.shu.edu/dissertations/2001
- Kirmayer, L. J., & Gómez-Carrillo, A. (2019). Agency, embodiment and enactment in psychosomatic theory and practice. Medical Humanities, 45(2), 169–182. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/medhum-2018-011618
- Klatzkin, R. R., Gaffney, S., Cyrus, K., Bigus, E., & Brownley, K. A. (2018). Stress-induced eating in women with binge-eating disorder and obesity. Biological Psychology, 131, 96–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2016.11.002
- Koo, M., & Skinner, H. (2005). Challenges of internet recruitment: A case study with disappointing results. Journal of Medical Internet Research, 7(1), e6. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.7.1.e6
- Koneru, V. K., Weisman de Mamani, A. G., Flynn, P. M., & Betancourt, H. (2007).
 Acculturation and mental health: Current findings and recommendations for future research. Applied and Preventive Psychology, 12(2), 76–96.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appsy.2007.07.016
- Konttinen, H., van Strien, T., Männistö, S., Jousilahti, P., & Haukkala, A. (2019).

 Depression, emotional eating and long-term weight changes: A population-based prospective study. The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 16(1), 28. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-019-0791-8

- Lazarevich, I., Irigoyen Camacho, M. E., Velázquez-Alva, M. del C., & Zepeda Zepeda, M. (2016). Relationship among obesity, depression, and emotional eating in young adults. Appetite, 107, 639–644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.09.011
- Le, H.-N., Muñoz, R. F., Ippen, C. G., & Stoddard, J. L. (2003). Treatment is not enough:

 We must prevent major depression in women. Prevention & Treatment, 6(1), 10.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/1522-3736.6.1.610a
- Levoy, E., Lazaridou, A., Brewer, J., & Fulwiler, C. (2017). An exploratory study of mindfulness-based stress reduction for emotional eating. Appetite, 109, 124–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.11.029
- Li, Y., Hofstetter, C. R., Irving, V., Chhay, D., & Hovell, M. F. (2014). Stress, illness, and the social environment: Depressive symptoms among first generation

 Mandarin-speaking Chinese in greater Los Angeles. Journal of Immigrant and

 Minority Health, 16(6), 1035–1044. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-013-9953-y
- Lim, G. Y., Tam, W. W., Lu, Y., Ho, C. S., Zhang, M. W., & Ho, R. C. (2018).

 Prevalence of depression in the community from 30 countries between 1994 and
 2014. Scientific Reports, 8(1), 2861. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-21243-x
- Maji, S. (2018). Society and 'good woman': A critical review of gender difference in depression. International Journal of Social Psychiatry, 64(4), 396–405. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764018765023
- Majumdar, A., Ramya, S., & Ramakrishnan, J. (2019). Depression, anxiety, and bodily pain independently predict poor sleep quality among adult women attending a

- primary health center of Puducherry, India. Journal of Family Medicine & Primary Care, 8(3), 1182-1188. https://doi.org/10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_118_19
- Malla, A., Joober, R., & Garcia, A. (2015). "Mental illness is like any other medical illness": A critical examination of the statement and its impact on patient care and society. Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience, 40(3), 147–150.
 <u>Https://doi.org/10.1503/jpn.150099</u>
- Maroufizadeh, S., Foroudifard, F., Navid, B., Ezabadi, Z., Sobati, B., & Omani-Samani, R. (2018). The Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-10) in women experiencing infertility: A reliability and validity study. Middle East Fertility Society Journal, 4, 456-459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mefs.2018.02.003
- Mensorio, M. S., Cebolla, A., Lisón, J. F., Rodilla, E., Palomar, G., Miragall, M., &
 Baños, R. M. (2017). Emotional eating as a mediator between anxiety and cholesterol in population with overweight and hypertension. Psychology, Health & Medicine, 22(8), 911–918. https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2016.1271134
- Mesoudi, A. (2019). Migration, acculturation, and the maintenance of between-group cultural variation. PLOS ONE, 13(10), e0216316.

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216316
- Meyer, C., Leung, N., Barry, L., & De Feo, D. (2010). Emotion and eating psychopathology: Links with attitudes toward emotional expression among young women. The International Journal of Eating Disorders, 43(2), 187–189.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.20659

- Mickeviciene, D., Leleikiene, A., Valanciene, D., Vizbaraite, D., Brazaitis, M., & Skurvydas, A. (2019). Absence of differences in the learning rate of a speed–accuracy movement task between women patients with mild and major depression and healthy adult women. Human Movement Science, 66, 363–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2019.05.016
- Mintzer, J., Donovan, K. A., Kindy, A. Z., Lock, S. L., Chura, L. R., & Barracca, N. (2019). Lifestyle choices and brain health. Frontiers in Medicine.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2019.00204
- Molema, C., Veldwijk, J., Wendel-Vos, W., de Wit, A., van de Goor, I., & Schuit, J. (2019). Chronically ill patients' preferences for a financial incentive in a lifestyle intervention. Results of a discrete choice experiment. PLoS ONE, 14(7), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0219112
- Mosher, W. D., Lantos, H., & Burke, A. E. (2018). Obesity and contraceptive use among women 20-44 years of age in the United States: Results from the 2011-2015

 National Survey of Family Growth (NSFG). Contraception, 97(5), 392–398.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2017.11.007
- Murphy, M., Robertson, W., & Oyebode, O. (2017). Obesity in international migrant populations. Current Obesity Reports, 6(3), 314–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-017-0274-7
- Mutiso, L. A. (2015). Factors Influencing Depression in Men: A Qualitative Investigation. (Doctoral dissertation, University of Kentucky).

- https://uknowledge.uky.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://scholar.google.co m/&httpsredir=1&article=1013&context=nursing_etds
- Nayak, M. S. D. P., & Narayan, A. (2019). Strengths and weakness of online surveys.

 IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science, 24(5), 31-38.

 https://doi.org/10.9790/0837-2405053138
- Oltmann, S. (2016). Qualitative interviews: A methodological discussion of the interviewer and respondent contexts. Qualitative Social Research, 17(2), 15. http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/2551/3998
- Pasco, J., Halloway, K., Dobbins, A., Kotowicz, M., Williams, L., & Brennan, S. (2014).

 Body mass index and measures of body fat for defining obesity and underweight:

 A cross-sectional, population-based study. BMC Obesity, 9(1).

 https://doi.org/10.1186/2052-9538-1-9
- Pokrajac-Bulian, A., Kukić, M., Majanović, S. K., & Tkalčić, M. (2018). Body weight and psychological functioning in Type 2 Diabetes mellitus patients: A preliminary study. Psihologijske Teme/Psychological Topics, 27(1), 55–72. https://doi.org/10.31820/pt.27.1.4.
- Qutteina, Y., Nasrallah, C., James-Hawkins, L., Nur, A. A., Yount, K. M., Hennink, M., & Abdul Rahim, H. F. (2018). Social resources and Arab women's perinatal mental health: A systematic review. Women and Birth, 31(5), 386–397.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2017.11.005

- Razzak, H. A., Harbi, A., & Ahli, S. (2019). Depression: Prevalence and associated risk factors in the United Arab Emirates. Oman Medical Journal, 34(4), 274–282. https://doi.org/10.5001/omj.2019.56
- Razzoli, M., Pearson, C., Crow, S., & Bartolomucci, A. (2017). Stress, overeating, and obesity: Insights from human studies and preclinical models. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 76(Part A), 154–162.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.01.026
- Read, J. G., Ajrouch, K. J., & West, J. S. (2018). Disparities in functional disability among Arab Americans by nativity, immigrant arrival cohort, and country of birth. SSM Population Health, 7, 100325.

 Https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.100325
- Reyes-Rodríguez, M. L., Gulisano, M., Silva, Y., Pivarunas, B., Luna-Reyes, K. L., & Bulik, C. M. (2016). "Las penas con pan duelen menos": The role of food and culture in Latinas with disordered eating behaviors. Appetite, 100, 102–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.02.029
- Richardson, A. S., Arsenault, J. E., Cates, S. C., & Muth, M. K. (2015). Perceived stress, unhealthy eating behaviors, and severe obesity in low-income women. Nutrition Journal, 14, 122. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12937-015-0110-4
- Rizvi, M. I. S., Shaikh, M. A. M., Ahmed, A., Farooq, S. N., & Serafi, A. H. S. (2015).

 Association of body mass index with perceived stress in male Saudi students.

 International Journal of Clinical & Experimental Physiology, 2(4), 214-219.

 https://ijcep.phcog.interactivedns.com/index.php/ijcep/article/view/116

- Romanowski, M. H., & Al-Hassan, F. S. (2013). Arab Middle Eastern women in Qatar and their perspectives on the barriers to leadership: Incorporating transformative learning theory to improve leadership skills. Near & Middle Eastern Journal of Research in Education, 2013(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.5339/nmejre.2013.3
- Saleh, R. N., Salameh, R. A., Yhya, H. H., & Sweileh, W. M. (2018). Disordered eating attitudes in female students of An-Najah National University: A cross-sectional study. Journal of Eating Disorders, 6, 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-018-0204-4
- Samuel, L., & Cohen, M. (2018). Expressive suppression and emotional eating in older and younger adults: An exploratory study. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 78, 127–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2018.06.012
- Sand, A. S., Emaus, N., & Lian, O. (2015). Overweight and obesity in young adult women: Matter of health or appearance? The Tromsø study: Fit futures.

 International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being, 10, 29026.

 https://doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v10.29026
- Sanou, D., O'Reilly, E., Ngnie-Teta, I., Batal, M., Mondain, N., Andrew, C. . . .

 Bourgeault, I. L. (2014). Acculturation and nutritional health of immigrants in

 Canada: A scoping review. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 16(1), 24–

 34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-013-9823-7
- Schneiderman, N., Ironson, G., & Siegel, S. D. (2005). Stress and health: Psychological, behavioral, and biological determinants. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 1, 607–628. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.144141

- Semaan, J. (2016). Counseling refugees of Middle Eastern descent in the United States.

 (Master's thesis, James Madison University).

 https://commons.lib.jmu.edu/edspec201019/22
- Setia, M. S. (2016). Methodology series Module 3: Cross-sectional Studies. Indian Journal of Dermatology, 61(3), 261–264. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5154.182410
- Sharara, E., Akik, C., Ghattas, H., & Makhlouf Obermeyer, C. (2018). Physical inactivity, gender and culture in Arab countries: A systematic assessment of the literature. BMC Public Health, 18(1), 639. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5472-z
- Shishehgar, S., Gholizadeh, L., DiGiacomo, M., & Davidson, P. M. (2015). The impact of migration on the health status of Iranians: An integrative literature review.

 BMC International Health and Human Rights, 15, 20.

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12914-015-0058-7
- Shouse, S. H., & Nilsson, J. (2011). Self-silencing, emotional awareness, and eating behaviors in college women. Psychology of Women Quarterly, 35(3), 451–457. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684310388785
- Sievert, L., Jaff, N., & Woods, N. (2018). Stress and midlife women's health. BMC Women's Midlife Health, 4, 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40695-018-0034-1
- Simon, G. E., Von Korff, M., Saunders, K., Miglioretti, D. L., Crane, P. K., van Belle, G., & Kessler, R. C. (2006). Association between obesity and psychiatric

- disorders in the US adult population. Archives of general psychiatry, 63(7), 824–830. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.63.7.824
- Sogari, G., Velez-Argumedo, C., Gómez, M. I., & Mora, C. (2018). College students and eating habits: A study using an ecological model for healthy behavior. Nutrients, 10(12), 1823. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10121823
- Song, H. J., Hwang, J., Pi, S., Ahn, S., Heo, Y., Park, S., & Kwon, J. W. (2018). The impact of obesity and overweight on medical expenditures and disease incidence in Korea from 2002 to 2013. PLOS One, 13(5).
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0197057
- Strauss, M. E., & Smith, G. T. (2009). Construct validity: Advances in theory and methodology. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 5, 1–25.

 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.032408.153639
- Survey Monkey. (2020). Get Survey Responses from Around the World in Minutes. https://www.surveymonkey.com/dashboard/
- Tengku Mohd, T. A. M., Yunus, R. M., Hairi, F., Hairi, N. N., & Choo, W. Y. (2019).

 Social support and depression among community-dwelling older adults in Asia: A systematic review. BMJ Open, 9(7). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026667
- Vallance, J. K., Gardiner, P. A., Lynch, B. M., D'Silva, A., Boyle, T., Taylor, L. M. . . . Owen, N. (2018). Evaluating the evidence on sitting, smoking, and health: Is sitting really the new smoking?. American Journal of Public Health, 108(11), 1478–1482. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304649

- van Strien T. (2018). Causes of emotional eating and matched treatment of obesity.

 Current Diabetes Reports, 18(6), 35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-018-1000-x
- van Strien, T., Frijters, J. E. R., Bergers, G. P. A., & Defares, P. B. (1986). External eating factor. [Subscale from: Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire].

 International Journal of Eating Disorders, 5(2), 295–315.

 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-108X(198602)5:2<295::AID-EAT2260050209>3.0.CO;2-T">https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-108X(198602)5:2<295::AID-EAT2260050209>3.0.CO;2-T
- van Strien, T., Konttinen, H. M., Ouwens, M. A., van de Laar, F. A., & Winkens, L. H. H. (2020). Mediation of emotional and external eating between dieting and food intake or BMI gain in women. Appetite, 145.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2019.104493
- van Strien, T., Winkens, L., Toft, M. B., Pedersen, S., Brouwer, I., Visser, M., & Lähteenmäki, L. (2016). The mediation effect of emotional eating between depression and body mass index in the two European countries Denmark and Spain. Appetite, 105, 500–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.06.025
- Vicennati, V., Pasqui, F., Cavazza, C., Pagotto, U., & Pasquali, R. (2009). Stress-related development of obesity and cortisol in women. Obesity, 17(9), 1678–1683. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2009.76
- Wang, J., & Geng, L. (2019). Effects of socioeconomic status on physical and psychological health: Lifestyle as a mediator. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 16(2), 281.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16020281

- Weiderpass, E., Botteri, E., Longenecker, J. C., Alkandari, A., Al-Wotayan, R., Al

 Duwairi, Q., & Tuomilehto, J. (2019). The prevalence of overweight and obesity
 in an adult Kuwaiti population in 2014. Frontiers in Endocrinology, 10, 449.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00449
- Wilson, S. M., Darling, K. E., Fahrenkamp, A. J., D'Auria, A. L., & Sato, A. F. (2015).
 Predictors of emotional eating during adolescents' transition to college: Does body mass index moderate the association between stress and emotional eating?
 Journal of American College Health, 63(3), 163–170.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2014.1003374
- Wilson, M., & Thayer, Z. (2018). Impact of acculturation on depression, perceived stress, and self-esteem in young Middle-Eastern American adults. Annals of Human Biology, 45(4), 346–353. https://doi.org/10.1080/03014460.2018.1484160
- Wong, M., & Qian, M. (2016). The role of shame in emotional eating. Eating Behaviors, 23, 41–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2016.07.004
- World Health Organization. (2020). Obesity and overweight. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight
- Yeshaw, Y., & Mossie, A. (2017). Depression, anxiety, stress, and their associated factors among Jimma University staff. Jimma, Southwest Ethiopia, 2016: A crosssectional study. Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment, 13, 2803–2812. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S150444
- Yu, J., Fei, K., Fox, A., Negron, R., & Horowitz, C. (2016). Stress eating and sleep disturbance as mediators in the relationship between depression and obesity in

- low-income, minority women. Obesity Research & Clinical Practice, 10(3), 283–290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orcp.2015.07.010
- Zeidan, R. K., Haddad, C., Hallit, R., Akel, M., Honein, K., Akiki, M. . . . Obeid, S.
 (2019). Validation of the Arabic version of the binge eating scale and correlates of binge eating disorder among a sample of the Lebanese population. Journal of Eating Disorders, 1, 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-019-0270-2
- Zhang, Z., Tian, Y., Zhong, F., Li, C.-F., Dong, S.-M., Huang, Y. . . . Huang, C. (2019).

 Association between oral health-related quality of life and depressive symptoms in Chinese college students: Fitness improvement tactics in youths (FITYou) project. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes, 17(1), 96.

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-019-1163-4

Appendix A

You are invited to take part in a survey research study that examines the relationship between stress, depression, acculturation, and emotional eating among Middle Eastern women from any Arabic country who moved to the United States. This study could help guide healthcare professionals treating Arabic Middle Eastern women with obesity. This survey is part of the doctoral study for Sherri Alizz Roohi-Booroujeni, a Ph.D. student at Walden University.

About the study:

- This survey should take from 25-35 minutes to complete.
- To protect your privacy, no names will be collected.

Volunteers must meet these requirements:

- 18 years and older
- Arabic Middle Eastern women
- Born and raised in the Middle East
- Moved to the United States

Appendix B: Demographic Survey

Please fill out the following demographic information.

| Are you 18 years of age or older? | | | | |
|-----------------------------------|--------------|--|--|--|
| | | | | |
| 1- | Yes | | | |
| 2- | No | | | |
| | | | | |
| Gend | er: | | | |
| | | | | |
| 1- | Male | | | |
| 2- | Female | | | |
| 3- | Unspecific | | | |
| | | | | |
| Ethnicity: | | | | |
| | | | | |
| 1- | Arabic | | | |
| 2- | Persians | | | |
| 3- | Kurdish | | | |
| 4- | Azerbaijanis | | | |
| 5- | Egyptians | | | |
| 6- | Turks | | | |

7- Other

Were you born in the United States?

- 1- Yes
- 2- No

Appendix C: Perceived Stress Questionnaire

| 1. In the last month, how often have you been upset because of something that | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|
| happened unexpectedly? | | | | |
| O Never | | | | |
| O Almost Never | | | | |
| O Sometimes | | | | |
| O Fairly Often | | | | |
| O Very Often | | | | |
| 2. In the last month, how often have you felt that you were unable to control the | | | | |
| important things in your life? | | | | |
| O Never | | | | |
| O Almost Never | | | | |
| O Sometimes | | | | |
| O Fairly Often | | | | |
| O Very Often | | | | |
| 3. In the last month, how often have you felt nervous and "stressed"? | | | | |
| O Never | | | | |
| O Almost Never | | | | |
| O Sometimes | | | | |
| O Fairly Often | | | | |
| O Very Often | | | | |
| | | | | |

| 4. In the last month, how often have you dealt successfully with day to day problems | | | |
|--|--|--|--|
| and annoyances? | | | |
| O Never | | | |
| O Almost Never | | | |
| O Sometimes | | | |
| O Fairly Often | | | |
| O Very Often | | | |
| 5. In the last month, how often have you felt that you were effectively coping with | | | |
| important changes that were occurring in your life? | | | |
| O Never | | | |
| O Almost Never | | | |
| O Sometimes | | | |
| O Fairly Often | | | |
| O Very Often | | | |
| 6. In the last month, how often have you felt confident about your ability to handle | | | |
| your personal problems? | | | |
| O Never | | | |
| O Almost Never | | | |
| O Sometimes | | | |
| O Fairly Often | | | |
| O Very Often | | | |
| 7. In the last month, how often have you felt that things were going your way? | | | |

| O Never | | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| O Almost Never | | | |
| O Sometimes | | | |
| O Fairly Often | | | |
| O Very Often | | | |
| 8. In the last month, how often have you found that you could not cope with all the | | | |
| things that you had to do? | | | |
| O Never | | | |
| O Almost Never | | | |
| O Sometimes | | | |
| O Fairly Often | | | |
| O Very Often | | | |
| 9. In the last month, how often have you been able to control irritations in your life? | | | |
| O Never | | | |
| O Almost Never | | | |
| O Sometimes | | | |
| O Fairly Often | | | |
| O Very Often | | | |
| 10. In the last month, how often have you felt that you were on top of things? | | | |
| O Never | | | |
| O Almost Never | | | |
| O Sometimes | | | |

| O Fairly Often | | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| O Very Often | | | |
| 11. In the last month, how often have you been angered because of things that | | | |
| happened that were outside of your control? | | | |
| O Never | | | |
| O Almost Never | | | |
| O Sometimes | | | |
| O Fairly Often | | | |
| O Very Often | | | |
| 12. In the last month, how often have you found yourself thinking about things that | | | |
| you have to accomplish? | | | |
| O Never | | | |
| O Almost Never | | | |
| O Sometimes | | | |
| O Fairly Often | | | |
| O Very Often | | | |
| 13. In the last month, how often have you been able to control the way you spend | | | |
| your time? | | | |
| O Never | | | |
| O Almost Never | | | |
| O Sometimes | | | |
| O Fairly Often | | | |

| O | Verv | Often |
|---|------|-------|
| | | |

- 14. In the last month, how often have you felt difficulties were piling up so high that you could not overcome them?
- O Never
- O Almost Never
- O Sometimes
- O Fairly Often
- O Very Often

Appendix D: Hamilton Depression Rating Scale

| 1- DEPRESSED MOOD (Gloomy attitude, pessimism about the future, feeling of | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|
| sadness, tendency to weep) | | | | |
| O Absent | | | | |
| O Sadness, etc. | | | | |
| O Occasional weeping | | | | |
| O Frequent weeping | | | | |
| O Extreme symptoms | | | | |
| 2- FEELINGS OF GU ILT | | | | |
| O Absent | | | | |
| O Self-reproach, feels he/she has let people down | | | | |
| O Ideas of guilt | | | | |
| O Present illness is a punishment; delusions of guilt | | | | |
| O Hallucination of guilt | | | | |
| 3- SUICIDE | | | | |
| O Absent | | | | |
| O Feels life is not worth living | | | | |
| O Wishes he/she were dead | | | | |
| O Suicidal ideas or gestures | | | | |
| O Attempts at suicide | | | | |
| 4- INSOMNIA- Initial (Difficulty in falling asleep) | | | | |
| O Absent | | | | |

| O Occasional | | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| O Frequent | | | |
| 5- INSOMNIA- Middle (Complains of being restless and disturbed during the night. | | | |
| Waking during the night.) | | | |
| O Absent | | | |
| O Occasional | | | |
| O Frequent | | | |
| | | | |
| 6- INSOMNIA- Delayed (Waking in early hours of the morning and unable to fall | | | |
| asleep again) | | | |
| O Absent | | | |
| O Occasional | | | |
| O Frequent | | | |
| 7- WORK AND INTERESTS | | | |
| O No difficulty | | | |
| O Feelings of incapacity, listlessness, indecision and vacillation | | | |
| O Loss of interest in hobbies, decreased social activities | | | |
| O Productivity decreased | | | |
| O Unable to work. Stopped working because of present illness only. (Absence from work | | | |
| after treatment or recovery may rate a lower score). | | | |
| 8- RETARDATION (Slowness of thought, speech, and activity; apathy; stupor.) | | | |
| O Absent | | | |

| O Slight retardation at interview | |
|---|-----------------------|
| O Obvious retardation at interview | |
| O Interview difficult | |
| O Complete stupor | |
| 9- AGITATION (Restlessness associated with anxiety) | |
| O Absent | |
| O Occasional | |
| O Frequent | |
| 10- ANXIETY-PSYCHIC | |
| O No difficulty | |
| O Tension and irritability | |
| O Worrying about minor | |
| O Apprehensive attitude | |
| O Fears | |
| 11- ANXIETY-SOMATIC (Gastrointestinal, indigestion, Cardiov | ascular, palpitation, |
| Headaches Respiratory, Genito-urinary, etc.) | |
| | |
| O Absent | |
| O Mild | |
| O Moderate | |
| O Severe | |
| O Incapacitating | |

| 12- | SOMATIC SYMPTOMS-GASTROINTESTINAL (Loss of appetite, heavy |
|---------|--|
| feeling | g in abdomen; constipation) |
| O Abs | ent |
| O Mile | d |
| O Sev | ere |
| 13- | SOMATIC SYMPTOMS- GENERAL (Heaviness in limbs, back or head; diffuse |
| backac | che; loss of energy and fatiguability) |
| O Abs | ent |
| O Mile | d |
| O Sev | ere |
| 14- | GENITAL SYMPTOMS (Loss of libido, menstrual disturbances) |
| O Abs | ent |
| O Mile | d |
| O Sev | ere |
| 15- | HYPOCHONDRIASIS |
| O Not | present |
| O Self | E-absorption (bodily) |
| O Pred | occupation with health |
| O Que | erulous attitude |
| О Нур | ochondriacal delusions |
| 16- | WEIGHT LOSS |
| O No | weight loss |

| O Slight |
|--|
| O Obvious or severe |
| 17- INSIGHT (Insight must be interpreted in terms of patient's understanding and |
| background.) |
| O No loss |
| O Partial or doubtful loss |
| O Loss of insight |
| 18- DIURNAL VARIATION (Symptoms worse in morning or evening. Note which it |
| is.) |
| O No variation |
| O Mild variation; AM () pm () |
| O Severe variation; AM () pm () () |
| 19- DEPERSONALIZATION AND DEREALIZATION (feelings of unreality, |
| nihilistic ideas) |
| O Absent |
| O Mild |
| O Moderate |
| O Severe |
| O Incapacitating |
| 20- PARANOID SYMPTOMS (Not with a depression quality) |
| O None |
| O Suspicious |

| O Delusions of reference and persecution |
|--|
| O Hallucinations, persecutory |
| 21- OBSESSIONAL SYMPTOMS (Obsessive thoughts and compulsions against |
| which the patient struggles) |
| O Absent |
| O Mild |
| |

O Ideas of reference

O Severe

Appendix E: Acculturation Questionnaire

[VIA- Arab Version]. Please answer each question as carefully as possible by selecting one of the following choices to indicate your degree of agreement and disagreement. In the statements, the term "ARAB" is used to refer to the NORTH AFRICAN/ MIDDLE EASTERN CULTURES or to persons who have a North African/ Middle Eastern ethnic background (even if the person identifies themselves with a different term such as "Arab American," "Coptic," or "Lebanese."). The term "AMERICAN" is used to refer to MAINSTREAM EUROPEAN-AMERICAN CULTURE or persons who have a European-American ethnic background.

- 1- I often participate in Arab cultural traditions.
- O Strongly Disagree
- O Disagree
- O Neutral/ Depends
- O Agree
- O Strongly Agree
- 2- I often participate in mainstream American cultural traditions.
- O Strongly Disagree
- O Disagree
- O Neutral/ Depends
- O Agree
- O Strongly Agree
- 3- I would be willing to marry a person of Arab ethnic background.

| O Strongly Disagree |
|--|
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 4- I would be willing to marry a (non-Arab) American person. |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 5- I enjoy social activities with people of Arab ethnicity. |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 6- I enjoy social activities with typical American people. |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |

| O Strongly Agree |
|--|
| 7- I am comfortable working with people of Arab ethnicity. |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 8- I am comfortable working with typical American people. |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 9- I enjoy Arab entertainment (e.g., movies, music). |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 10- I enjoy American entertainment (e.g., movies, music). |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |

| O Neutral/ Depends |
|--|
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 11- I often behave in ways that are typical of the Arab culture. |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 12- I often behave in ways that are "typically American." |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 13- It is important for me to maintain or develop the practices of the Arab culture. |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 14- It is important for me to maintain or develop American cultural practices |

| O Strongly Disagree |
|---|
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 15- I believe in Arab values. |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 16- I believe in mainstream American values. |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 17- I enjoy typical Arab/ Arabic jokes and humor. |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |

| O Strongly Agree |
|---|
| 18- I enjoy typical American jokes and humor. |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 19- I have friends of Arab ethnic background. |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |
| 20- I have friends who are mainstream American. |
| O Strongly Disagree |
| O Disagree |
| O Neutral/ Depends |
| O Agree |
| O Strongly Agree |

Appendix F: Emotional Eating Scale

We all respond to different emotions in different ways. Some types of feelings lead people to experience an urge to eat. Please indicate the extent to which the following feelings lead you to feel an urge to eat by checking the appropriate box.

- 1- Resentful
- O No desire to eat
- O A small desire to eat
- O A moderate desire to eat
- O A strong urge to eat
- O An overwhelming urge to eat
- 2- Discouraged
- O No desire to eat
- O A small desire to eat
- O A moderate desire to eat
- O A strong urge to eat
- O An overwhelming urge to eat
- 3- Shaky
- O No desire to eat
- O A small desire to eat
- O A moderate desire to eat
- O A strong urge to eat
- O An overwhelming urge to eat

| 4- Worn Out |
|-------------------------------|
| O No desire to eat |
| O A small desire to eat |
| O A moderate desire to eat |
| O A strong urge to eat |
| O An overwhelming urge to eat |
| 5- Inadequate |
| O No desire to eat |
| O A small desire to eat |
| O A moderate desire to eat |
| O A strong urge to eat |
| O An overwhelming urge to eat |
| 6- Excited |
| O No desire to eat |
| O A small desire to eat |
| O A moderate desire to eat |
| O A strong urge to eat |
| O An overwhelming urge to eat |
| 7- Rebellious |
| O No desire to eat |
| O A small desire to eat |
| O A moderate desire to eat |

O An overwhelming urge to eat 8-Blue O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat 9-**Jittery** O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat 10-Sad O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat

O A strong urge to eat

11- Uneasy

O A strong urge to eat

O An overwhelming urge to eat

O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat 12-Irritated O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat 13-Jealous O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat 14-Worried O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat

O A moderate desire to eat

O A strong urge to eat

O No desire to eat

O An overwhelming urge to eat 15-Frustrated O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat 16-Lonely O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat 17-**Furious** O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat On edge 18-O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat

O An overwhelming urge to eat 19-Confused O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat 20-Nervous O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat 21-Angry O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat

Guilty

22-

O A moderate desire to eat

O A strong urge to eat

O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat 23-Bored O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat 24-Helpless O No desire to eat O A small desire to eat O A moderate desire to eat O A strong urge to eat O An overwhelming urge to eat 25-Upset O No desire to eat

O A small desire to eat

O A strong urge to eat

O A moderate desire to eat

O An overwhelming urge to eat